

# HOW DOES GENERATION Z PERCEIVE H&M AND LUXURY DESIGNER CO-BRANDINGS? QUALITATIVE INSIGHTS FROM TURKEY

ALİ RIZA TUNÇER

Master's Thesis

Graduate School

İzmir University of Economics

İzmir

2022

# HOW DOES GENERATION Z PERCEIVE H&M AND LUXURY DESIGNER CO-BRANDINGS? QUALITATIVE INSIGHTS FROM TURKEY

ALİ RIZA TUNÇER

A Thesis Submitted to The Graduate School of Izmir University of Economics Master Program in Marketing Communication and Public Relations

> İzmir 2022

## ABSTRACT

# HOW DOES GENERATION Z PERCEIVE H&M AND LUXURY DESIGNER CO-BRANDINGS? OUALITATIVE INSIGHTS FROM TURKEY

Tunçer, Ali Rıza

Master Program in Marketing Communication and Public Relations

Advisor: Assoc. Prof. Dr. Sema Misçi Kip

January, 2022

In recent years, streetwear fashion has been the main trend in the clothing and apparel industry. The increasing number of individuals from Generation Z prefer fast-fashion products, which are easier and more affordable to access since their expectations from the fashion industry are different from individuals that came before them. As a result of this trend, the luxury designer brands are devising new strategies to reach customers like Gen Z. For this purpose, the collaborations between streetwear and luxury brands are visible in different segments of the clothing and apparel industry. One of the most prominent collaborations in this area is between Swedish fast-fashion brand H&M and luxury designers from all around the world. Since H&M is one of the popular brands among Generation Z, this study analyzes the perception of them on H&M and designer collaborations. In-depth interviews are conducted with30 participants between 18-25 years of age who follow H&M and designer collaborations. The results of the study shed light on insights related to consumption habits, approach to H&M and luxury brands, and their interests in these collaborations.

Keywords: brand perception, fashion collaborations, H&M, luxury fashion brands, streetwear, Gen Z

# ÖZET

# Z JENERASYONU H&M VE LÜKS TASARIMCI İŞ BİRLİKLERİNİ NASIL ALGILIYOR? TÜRKİYE'DEN KALİTATİF İÇGÖRÜLER

Tunçer, Ali Rıza

Pazarlama İletişimi ve Halkla İlişkiler Yüksek Lisans Programı

Tez Danışmanı: Doç. Dr. Sema Misçi Kip

## Ocak, 2022

Son yıllarda giyim ve hazır giyim endüstrisinde sokak modası ana trend olmuştur. Z kuşağının giderek artan sayıdaki bireyleri, moda endüstrisinden beklentilerinin kendinden önceki bireylerden farklı olması nedeniyle erişimi daha kolay ve daha ekonomik olan hızlı moda ürünlerini tercih etmektedir. Bu trendin bir sonucu olarak lüks tasarımcı markaları Z kuşağı gibi müşterilere ulaşmak için yeni stratejiler geliştiriyor. Bu amaçla sokak giyimi ve lüks markalar arasındaki işbirlikleri giyim ve hazır giyim sektörünün farklı segmentlerinde kendini gösteriyor. Bu alandaki en önemli işbirliklerinden biri, İsveçli hızlı moda markası H&M ile dünyanın her yerinden lüks tasarımcılar arasındaki işbirliğidir. H&M, Z Kuşağı arasında popüler markalardan biri olduğu için, bu çalışma onların H&M ve tasarımcı işbirliklerine yönelik algısını analiz ediyor. . H&M ve tasarımcı işbirliklerini takip eden 18-25 yaş arası 30 katılımcı ile derinlemesine mülakatlar gerçekleştirilmektedir. Çalışmanın sonuçları, tüketim alışkanlıkları, H&M ve lüks markalara yaklaşım ve bu işbirliklerine ilgileri ile ilgili içgörülere ışık tuttu.

Anahtar Kelimeler: moda iş birlikleri, H&M, lüks moda markaları, sokak modası, Z jenerasyonu

Dedicated to my one and only family who support my academic career with as much enthusiasm as I do.

# ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to express my sincere appreciation to Assoc. Prof. Dr. Sema Misçi Kip for her guidance and insight throughout the research as well as Assoc. Prof. Dr. Zeynep Ertekin and Beliz Günduru for providing guidance to inspire me.



# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

ABSTRACTiii
ÖZETiv
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS
TABLE OF CONTENTS
LIST OF TABLES
CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION
CHAPTER 2: LITERATURE REVIEW
2.1 Fashion Branding
2.2 Streetwear Brands and Fast-Fashion
2.3 Luxury Brands and Luxury Fashion
2.4 Collaborations In the Fashion Industry
2.5 Brand Perception
2.6 Generation Z
2.7 Previous Research and Research Gap
CHAPTER 3: METHODOLOGY
3.1 Sample Selection
3.2 Data Collection
CHAPTER 4: FINDINGS
4.1 Brand Awareness
4.2 Perceived Quality
4.3 Brand Association
4.4 Brand Fondness
4.5 Brand Image
4.6 Product Country Image
CHAPTER 5: DISCUSSION
CHAPTER 6: CONCLUSION
REFERENCES
APPENDICES
Appendix A. Survey Questions
Appendix B. In-depth Interview Questions

# LIST OF TABLES



## **CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION**

In today's world, the consumption habits of individuals are continuously evolving in fashion products as fashion styles have been changing over the years. Increasingly, consumers are oriented towards fast-fashion products to keep up with the trends. Especially with the influence of social media, more and more individuals want to buy fashion products to look fashionable. This leads fast-fashion brands to create collections to meet the increasing consumer demands and find new ways to attract consumers' attention to their brands. Although fast-fashion brands are becoming more popular, the demand for luxury still exists. In fact, the demand for luxury brands has always been high among consumers (Kapferer, and Michaut, 2014). In a sense, luxury goods are perceived as a status symbol (Bellezza et al., 2017). Thus, consumers want to gain these status symbols and use them in their everyday life (Husic, and Cicic, 2009). Still, these luxury goods are not accessible for the majority of the global population. Also, luxury brands are experiencing certain problems with increasing sales numbers (Nueno, and Quelch, 1998). In most cases, majority of the consumers prefer simpler fast-fashion versions of luxury products (Wang, and Griskevicius, 2014). In recent years, new trends have emerged in the fast-fashion industry. This trend, which is called co-branding or brand collaboration, involves cooperation between a fast-fashion brand and a luxury brand. Such efforts can generally be seen attention-grabbing for the fashion industry and apparel sector. Fast-fashion brands such as H&M are allocating their resources to find the luxury brand designers and to work with them to offer new collection with collaborations.

It is important to understand how such collaborations between fast-fashion brands and luxury brands are viewed by the consumers. However, it is an important measure and understanding the perception Generation Z consumers as they will be the main consumer segment in the future. Born directly inside the technology and internet, the members of Generation Z have significantly different characteristics and consumption habits than the other generations. Since this generation is more informed about the products due to their internet access and more opportunities to compare the products before purchasing, their consumption habits are entirely different than other generations (Turner, 2015). In addition, the members of this generation tend to prefer fast-fashion products to a luxury brand when it comes to considering price/performance ratio (Wang, and Griskevicius, 2014).

According to the consumption habits of Generation Z, collaborations between H&M and luxury brands can offer various advantages for these consumers. Understanding the brand perception and preferences of this generation can significantly help fastfashion brands to devise strategies to meet the needs of this key consumer segment. Furthermore, understanding the perceptions of individuals from Gen Z living in Turkey gives insights for their current and future consumption. Turkey offers great opportunities for brands, especially for fashion brands, due to its high percentage of young population. Positive perception towards such collaboration across the Turkish youth can significantly contribute to the marketing and expansion practices of these fast-fashion brands. Since H&M is a popular brand in Turkey, the perception of Turkish Generation Z members towards the brand collaboration could provide important insights into the future of the fashion industry. Therefore, this study focuses on the perception of Generation Z towards H&M and luxury designer collaborations in the Turkish market through the brand perception construct offered by. The findings of this study will help fashion brands to review their marketing strategies according to the brand perception construct (Chen-Yu, Cho, and Kincade, 2016) as well as find new ways to address the needs of these future consumers.

## **CHAPTER 2: LITERATURE REVIEW**

#### 2.1 Fashion Branding

Fashion has a long history as it dates back to the beginning of humankind. While everything started with simple materials and simple methods, it is possible to see more complex and elegant forms of fashion nowadays. Jones, and Stallybrass (2000) stated that the word "fashion" was included in the English Dictionary in 1568. However, fashion can be traced back to the era of Roman and Egyptian. Although the styles and fashionable items were different, it is clear that people in those periods followed a certain sense of clothing.

Evolutions of fashion can be analyzed from different perspectives. Riello (2011) expressed that fashion has two different forms, which are the immaterial and material forms. İdeas are the conception of a re the conception of a design while a material is a non-abstract form

Fashion is a dynamic process so that the way we dressed has changed significantly over the long years. In the Roman period, the clothes signified the wealth and social status of an individual (Petersen, 2009). Steele (2001) reflected that the modern use of fashion might have been stemmed from the 18th-century use of fashion. However, Tungate (2004) stated that fashion in the modern sense was born in the 19th century in Paris. It was through the end of the 19th century when the first fashion brand was created in England (Brand, 2011). Charles Frederick Worth took the leading step in the fashion industry and changed this field from the ground (Cole, 2011).

Although beginning of modern fashion seems ambiguous, Fashion has been part of our life for centuries. Also, it has changed form and evolved into our current sense of fashion. According to Tungate (2004), French designers like Chanel, Dior, and many other popular fashion brands have emerged on the path started by the English designers in general. As time passed, fashion evolved with modern designers who push the limits of the imagination by offering various forms of dresses, skirts, pants, shirts, and accessories.

The past objective of fashion, designing wearable clothes, has been transformed to making a statement in the current fashion world (McNeil, 2018). As Barnard (2002) expressed, clothes were connected with beauty back in Plato's time, which corresponds to 400 BC. However, clothing and fashion have a stronger meaning in today's world. They are even used as a way of communication (Schofield, and Schmidt, 2005) to deliver a message to the consumer groups. From this perspective, it is possible to indicate that fashion also helped to form current understanding of the individuals.

Okonkwo (2016) expressed that brands and branding evolved from different components such as marks, names, and logos. Branding is the result of emotional and psychological effects of the consumer side as well as financial value on the seller side. Based on this definition of branding, it is obvious that branding affects the entire sales channel from the seller to the customer. On the consumer side, the emotions that a brand evokes are considered an important element. On contrary, there is no room for emotions on the seller side since the seller side of the branding concept is mainly interested in the financial value generated by the branding efforts.

In today's world, brands have become important financial assets. Therefore, brands are regarded as more than just a name and a logo. Clifton (2009) explained that brands are often considered as an intangible asset of an organization where the value of this asset is as high as a real and physical asset. From this point of view, it can be considered that brands have high value for organizations. Naturally, brands are not tangible assets such as products and services. Yet, in some cases, the name of a brand can make a higher impact than a product or service.

Our world has become more digitalized. With the increasing use of the internet, the consumption habits and behaviors of consumers have been changing as well. Meanwhile, users want to see different brands in different sectors. Edelman (2010) stated that consumers want to see what the brand offers and promises clearly when they are making a decision.

Okonkwo (2016) declares that brand positioning, which is different from market positioning, can be defined as the visibility of the connection between the consumer and the seller. Brand positioning has evolved in many ways. Currently, the majority of

brands are adopting online channels to promote their brand. Such a practice is called online branding in which, brands focus on creating a strong online presence. As mentioned above, the internet and digital technologies have become an integral part of products and services. Therefore, brands are increasingly focusing on online environments for their branding efforts. Rowley (2004) stated that the basic step to conduct an online branding activity is to build a website that transfers the message and reflects the values of the brand. An integrated brand message and values can help to create a consistent brand image. Then, such an image would help to consolidate the relationship between the brand and the customer. At this point, it is important to consider how brands are positioning themselves both in the physical world and the online world.

One of the branding practices in the fashion industry is viral branding. Holt (2004, p. 34) indicated that viral branding targets the tastemakers since they are the initial users and promoters of the product. Currently, these tastemakers are commonly referred to as influencers. Truong, McColl, and Kitchen (2009) expressed that the new luxury consumers are different from the old luxury consumers in terms of income, age to reach higher income, and financing. As Okonkow (2016) further explained, this change has led many brands including luxury brands to change their brand positioning and branding efforts.

## 2.2 Streetwear Brands and Fast-Fashion

The fast-fashion has become one of the common practices in the fashion industry. There are different factors that push fashion and clothing companies to offer new products faster to the consumers. Bhardwaj, and Fairhurst (2010) noted that there is high competition in the fashion market in today's world so that it is forcing clothing brands to offer new and fresh products to meet these demands. In this sense, fashion brands feel compelled to meet the high competition demands imposed by the sector. In return, such high competition demand led the fashion brands to find new means to keep up with the market dynamics. In line with the increasing demand, fashion brands both in streetwear and luxury fashion are searching for new ways to take place in the fast-fashion industry.

Furthermore, streetwear brands are increasingly focusing on fast-fashion consumption. Cachon, and Swinney (2011) stated that there has been an increasing trend among the fashion companies such as Zara and H&M towards the fast-fashion. On the other hand, there have been different views on the meaning of the fast-fashion. These differences are often caused by the factors containing what the fast-fashion refers to. When the meaning of fast-fashion is considered, Bhardwaj, and Fairhurst (2010) expressed those retailers in the fashion industry should decrease the time to deliver their products to the consumers by speeding up the process which results in fast-fashion. In general, the fast-fashion can be regarded as a process with accelerated manufacturing, customer delivery, and sales cycle. These three components might be the main factors determining the practice of the fast-fashion. However, there are other factors contributing to the development and widespread application of this new practice.

The main factors in the fast-fashion, as expressed by Cachon, and Swinney (2011), are fast manufacturing, fast delivery to the consumers, meeting the uncertain number of demands, and manufacturing trendy fashion products. In addition to these factors, Bhardwaj, and Fairhurst (2010) claimed that the factors that have changed in the fashion industry have led to fast-fashion which included a decrease in the mass production practices, a higher number of fashion seasons in one year, and the changes experienced in the supply chain of the fashion industry.

Furthermore, as expressed by Bruce, and Daly (2006), the main objective of fastfashion practices is to deliver to customers in the shortest time possible as well as considering the cost factor. An article on Forbes reported that the fast-fashion giant (H&M), has closed 160 stores and organized a huge sales campaign due to \$4 billion worth of unsold clothing products (Stein, 2019). There is no doubt that cost is an important variable in the fast-fashion industry. In this sense, the fast-fashion is a multidimensional field with numerous variables to be considered during application. However, there is another important dimension especially in terms of sales and demands. One of these important dimensions is related to consumer behavior and changes in consumer behaviors, especially related to differences between the generations.

As the fast-fashion becomes more widespread especially among the clothing industry companies, consumer behavior also changes in line with these trends. In terms of consumer behavior, Cachon, and Swinney (2011) stated that consumers are expecting a sale of the products which leads to delayed purchasing. This delayed purchasing among the consumers might lead to problems such as pricing for the clothing companies. Aviv, and Pazgal (2008) claimed that different factors such as demand uncertainty, behaviors of the consumers, and the limited number of products should be considered in the pricing strategy as the dynamic pricing increases in the fashion industry and other similar industries. Therefore, fashion brands need to understand these changing consumer behaviors and devise new strategies to manage the consumption trends.

There has been an increasing interest in the streetwear market. Shukurova (2018) stated that streetwear has gained an important market share in the fashion industry for the past decade. This statement is further supported by data collected from the fashion industry. According to the data published by Statista (2020), the size of the apparel fashion market in the US has reached \$1.9 trillion. This market size of the fashion industry clearly illustrates the value of the sector.

Just like any other sector, marketing activities in the fashion industry, especially in the streetwear sub-branch, require dividing the customer based on different characteristics. This is called market segmentation and it is an integral part of any marketing activities in any sector. Without market segmentation, it is not possible to address the consumers in the right way. Accordingly, different factors should be evaluated in terms of market segmentation in fashion and streetwear branding. Shuruova (2018) explained that segmentation in any sector, including the fashion sector, is performed in accordance with demography, geography, socio-cultural habits, psychology, use purpose, sociocultural, and hybrid conditions. All of these factors that are considered in the segmentation are also formed by consumer habits.

Nowadays, consumer habits, especially streetwear consumption, can be influenced by many factors. Savignac, Parmentier, and Marcoux (2012) expressed that those bloggers who are also consumers can influence their audience in terms of cloth consumption. Individuals are now following influencers on social platforms to decide which products or clothes they will consume. The main consumer of the fashion industry is shifting. Currently, Generation Z has become one of the main fashion consumers around the world. Furthermore, Shuruova (2018) expressed that the

consumers of Generation Z have been stable customers as they could be considered as good customers. In this sense, the consumer habit of this generation is gaining more power and influence in the fashion sector. When brands in the streetwear industry are involved in branding activities, both customer habits and consequent customer segmentation should be considered.

As expressed above, brands must understand how consumers see streetwear brands. Statista (2019) conducted research on consumers and showed that 62.4% of the consumers regarded streetwear fashion as a style that will be always fashionable. Based on this data, it is obvious that more than half of the consumers think streetwear will continue to be a trend and popular area in fashion. Moreover, streetwear fashion can be present in different settings as well. Chang et al. (2017) stated that fashion is an important and indispensable part of cities around the world. In this sense, fashion contributes to the identities of people living in the cities in one way. Furthermore, Chang et al. (2017) noted that people living in the cities are using the street as their runways. Accordingly, it can be stated that individuals regard fashion as a way of self-expression to show what they like, what they want to wear, and consequently what they want to consume. Streetwear fashion brands need to consider these desires and consumption habits of the users to better position their brand and engage in more efficient branding activities.

Since the trends in fashion is changing, the consumer and consumption habits in this sector are changing as well as, Macedo (2015) stated that streetwear currently targets a larger audience including individuals in their 50s who have witnessed the birth of this fashion trend rather than young people between 15-19 years old. Naturally, the consumption habits of people from different generations will be different. In this sense, correct customer segmentation processes are required for branding activities.

In addition to the consumer aspect, there is also the designer aspect in streetwear. Collins (2018) reported that the designers think the key element to creating a streetwear fashion brand is to find something to change and start changing that thing. However, this desire to change in the designers often stems from consumer habits. Therefore, understanding the needs and desires of the consumers plays a key role in streetwear branding. For this purpose, this study aims to understand the perception of Generation Z at the intersection of streetwear brands and luxury brands. By considering the views of this new consumer segment towards the luxury brand and streetwear brand collaboration, it is possible to better position the brands and engage in an efficient branding activity.

In the broader sense, luxury has been subjected to various changes. A report prepared by Achille, Marchessou, and Remy (2018) showed that digital luxury shoppers and digitally influence sales are becoming the key trends in the luxury fashion sector. As argued by Vecchi, and Buckley (2016), massification increases the demand as well as the product range in terms of items with higher accessibility. Accordingly, more consumers can gain access to more products and consume these products in a fast way.

One of the discussions in luxury fashion and fashion, in general, has been the sustainability of the fashion process. Massification of the fashion sector has led to sustainability concerns in this field. Vecchi, and Buckley (2016) claimed that consumption habits and use of natural resources as well as fashion somehow have an unsustainable nature due to production scale. As fashion uses natural resources and the consumer of this sector tends to have high demand, the chances for this sector to be sustainable are low. Therefore, achieving sustainability in the luxury fashion sector can be challenging. However, there are some options to overcome this problem. Vecchi and Buckley (2016) expressed that luxury brands can overcome the issues related to sustainability in the fashion sector by designing with local resources and as well as with a holistic approach for design, production, and delivery stages. Using local resources with sustainable design and manufacturing processes can significantly decrease the less sustainable structure of the sector.

The fast-fashion is unsustainable in terms of design, manufacturing, and delivery. Joy et al. (2012) suggested that the fast-fashion has an unsustainable nature due to its disposable structure. As consumers use and easily dispose of the products they purchase, the waste amount is increased. As expressed by Joy et al. (2012), the fast-fashion is often referred to McFashion in the sense of Mcdonald's clothing where it offers a new design with lower prices and in the quickest way possible. This analogy of McDonald's clearly shows the consumption-oriented structure of the fashion industry.

Sustainability is a more common practice in the luxury fashion segment compared to the fast-fashion segment. Joy et al. (2012) expressed that luxury brands such as Stella McCartney, Ferragamo, and Vivienne Westwood are currently manufacturing ecologic and sustainable clothing and fashion products. Luxury brands tend to select and use more environmentally friendly products to manufacture their products. Additionally, consumers of the luxury fashion segment are believed to have an influence on the other consumer segments. Godart, and Seong (2014) state that luxury fashion can be a means to introduce sustainable fashion as the main consumer segment might have an impact on the other consumer segments. In this sense, luxury brands and luxury brand consumers might be utilized to create more sustainable fashion for the remaining consumer segment.

Luxury has changed significantly over the years. For sure, current trends of luxury are different from the trends of the past. Genderless clothing is one of these new trends in the luxury fashion area. Reis et al. (2019) expressed that genderless clothing transposes national reality and is visible at an international level in terms of androgynous fashion. In addition to genderless fashion, luxury brand and streetwear brand collaborations are increasing around the world. Maguire (2019) expressed those collaborations between luxury fashion brands and streetwear brands as they can lead to hype among consumer segments and expand the market to gain new customers. Thus, the market segment for the luxury fashion brands can expand as they reach new customers and sell their products to these customers. In this sense, the collaboration between these two different segments of fashion might generate higher accessibility across consumers.

Furthermore, Maguire (2019) reported that this collaboration called the streetwear movement generated a higher demand based on the scarcity of fashion products and adopted by different brands. Over the course of time, H&M has collaborated with 19 luxury fashion designers for 15 years (H&M, 2020a). In the latest collaboration with Giambattista Valli, the collection was haute couture-inspired with detailed work while the design, manufacturing, and style reflected the designer without being manufactured in the Paris atelier of the designer (H&M, 2020a). Accordingly, the execution of the collection follows the fast-fashion style of H&M while this collaboration reflects the style of the luxury brand designer. Therefore, it is possible to manufacture more products with certain scarcity and offer this collection to a larger audience than the limited audience of luxury fashion consumers. In this sense, luxury fashion brand and streetwear brand collaborations might play an important role in the new consumption era.

### 2.3 Luxury Brands and Luxury Fashion

Luxury brands and luxurious branding mainly focus on high-quality products with a unique purchasing experience. Luxury brands have different dynamics than mediumsegment brands. Such a difference is more visible in fashion brands. While the offered products and services might be similar in different segments, the difference is caused by how these products and services are offered.

Keller (2017) defined luxury brands with ten properties where they form the basis for luxury brands. The first property of a luxury brand is the preservation of the premium image. The image control process plays a key role in the branding process. Additionally, luxury brands need to generate intangible brands. As expressed above, intangible assets of a brand can, in some cases, be stronger than products or services of the brand. Another crucial point of luxury branding is keeping the high-quality products, services in the same line with the purchasing experience. In fact, a complete product and service cycle can contribute to the consumer journey explained by Edelman (2010). Wang (2015) expressed that those brands should focus on complementary elements such as brand logo or packaging to increase the value of the luxury brand. Another property of a luxury brand is the ability to create links with personalities, countries, etc. The other property is related to marketing. Wrobleski (2019) explained that luxury brands should be selective about their channel choice while traditional and online marketing channels are perfectly blended in the current environment.

Choi (2017) argued that pricing is also important in this field. Choi further stated that luxury brands should use a premium pricing strategy where the number of campaigns and discounts must be limited. Wrobleski (2019) further noted that the brand structure should be managed with care to clearly define the competition. Another important aspect of luxury branding is the protection of trademarks. In luxury branding, it is important to prevent counterfeits and protect both the tangible and intangible assets of the brand (Keller, 2017).

There has been a significant change in luxury branding. The brands are currently offering products that can be purchased by the middle-class or even lower-income class. Fiske, and Silverstein (2003) expressed those accessible super premiums have been introduced in luxury branding. For example, Belvedere Vodka, which is a premium brand, is sold for \$28 per bottle. On the other hand, Absolute is sold for \$16 per bottle even the premium brand is still at the affordable end of the price range. When these factors are considered, it can be observed that there is a great shift in luxury branding practices. Increasingly, luxury brands are changing their target segments from high-income and upper-middle class to middle-class and lower-middle class. This shift is reflected in the fashion industry in the form of streetwear brands and luxury fashion brand collaborations.

Fashion and especially luxury fashion have been changing since the first days of human history. Atwal, and Williams (2017) stated that luxury and status along with quality and exclusiveness have been used together for a long time. When someone talks about luxury or luxury goods, these words are associated with higher status and higher quality. However, the perceptions towards luxury brands have a different outlook. Tungate (2004) suggested that luxury has been used instead of overpriced products with average quality which are perceived as luxury goods due to marketing efforts. According to this suggestion, it could be clear that luxury might not be entirely associated with high-quality and high-status.

The 21<sup>st</sup> century has experienced changes in different sectors. Miller (2001) reported that the transition to the 21<sup>st</sup> century offers opportunities in terms of technology, economy, society, and governance. The change at the society level shows that the consumer of this age is significantly different from the consumer of five decades ago. The changes in the consumer and consumption level and characteristics can also be observed across the luxury brand consumers. Ryding et al. (2016) stated that the luxury industry is experiencing democratization. In this process, tailor-made products are being replaced by ready-made products. The change in luxury fashion consumption leads to this change from haute couture to ready-made clothing. Moreover, new luxury brands can enter the luxury fashion market as it is now easier to enter the market with developments in technology and the internet. As new luxury fashion brands can enter the market more easily than the previous decades, there might be significant changes

for the luxury brands of the past. As more consumers want to access as well as use luxury brands and luxury apparel, the luxury fashion sector is facing challenges. These challenges are further increased with the changing consumer demographics.

Luxury counterfeiting is one of the aspects of luxury brands and luxury brandings that needs to be considered in detail. The Economist magazine (2015) reported that luxury product counterfeiting has been one of the greatest problems around the world accounting for more than \$1.8 trillion market cap as 2015. A recent article by Fontana, Girod, and Kralik (2019) stated that the market for luxury goods counterfeiting accounted for approximately \$4.5 trillion in 2019. When the 2015 and 2019 data are compared, it is observed that the counterfeit market for luxury goods is expanding at a high speed. In 4 years, the total market capacity has increased by \$2.7 trillion. Furthermore, it is predicted that the problem will continue to be one of the biggest problems in the luxury goods sectors as suggested by the 2015 and 2019 data.

One of the reasons for the increased number of counterfeit luxury products is explained by Fontana, Girod, and Kralik (2019) as luxury brands becoming just mere symbols of status. Yet, these brands fail to be then that by offering tangible characteristics. Additionally, counterfeit products are purchased since a consumer believes that these products act as an alternative to real luxury products (Perez, Castaño, and Quintanilla, 2010). As consumers assume that these luxury brands do not have tangible attributes and there is an alternative with similar properties i.e., brand name and logo with lower prices, they tend to increase their purchases. This can explain the significant increase in the counterfeit luxury goods market in the last 4 years.

The main problem in the mind of the consumers has been the question of whether it is worth paying as much as \$2.500 on a branded product which is made in China than to purchase a counterfeit of the same product which is also made in China (Fontana, Girod, and Kralik, 2019). This problem might be considered as one of the driving powers of Generation Z to purchase counterfeit luxury goods. To decrease the number of counterfeit luxury product purchases, luxury fashion brands must follow different strategies. In this sense, it is important for luxury fashion brands to understand the strengths of the brand rather than simply fighting against the counterfeiting activity itself (Fontana, Girod, and Kralik, 2019). Accordingly, luxury fashion brands need to understand their consumers better to better reflect the strengths of the brand. Therefore, it is important to understand how luxury brands and luxury branding have changed before and after Generation Z.

Luxury brands have been around us for a long time. Tungate (2004) expressed that Jean Castarade has mentioned an ivory figurine almost 30.000 years ago shows the first signs of luxury consumption. It shows that luxury might be as old as humankind. However, from the beginning of the humankind, almost 30.000 years ago till the 21<sup>st</sup> century, luxury brand consumption has naturally been changed a lot. Atwal, and Williams (2017) stated that the 1980s and 1990s mark the start of Western luxury consumption to gain status and better appearance.

The consumers of luxury often have different characteristics for different generations. Unity Marketing (2006) reported luxury consumers of the baby boomer generation to have an iconoclastic view of the world with intemperance. This approach of this generation has transformed the luxury fashion industry into an individualistic consumption. However, Generation Z has entirely different characteristics and consumption habits than this baby boomer generation as well as Generation Y. Hemantha (2019) stated that Generation Z has a higher digital purchasing experience with high pragmatism compared to Generation Y with the less digital purchasing experience.

Juodzbalis, and Radzevicius (2015) suggested that Generation Z members in Asia are highly interested to purchase luxury goods that attract the attention of the marketers for achieving higher market share. While the demand from Generation Z towards luxury fashion brands is increasing, luxury fashion brands should understand the consumption characteristics of this generation and how Generation Z approaches luxury fashion and ready-made apparel.

Juodzbalis, and Radzevicius (2015) defined Generation Z as more mature than baby boomers, Generation X, or Generation Y. Mainly, Generation Z is described with materialistic and realistic properties. Generation Z consumer segment offers great opportunities for luxury brands as this generation is still at the beginning of their life without a high number of career responsibilities (Hemantha, 2019). Accordingly, understanding how Generation Z sees luxury brands and ready-made fashion products such as streetwear is important to better position the brands to reach more consumers.

#### 2.4 Collaborations In the Fashion Industry

Collaborations in the fashion industry have a long history. As noted by Gordon (2017), one of the first fashion collaborations was made in 1999 by Supreme when the brand worked with DC Shoes to make a sneaker with Supreme brand. Accordingly, it is possible to state that these collaborations have existed in the fashion sector since the 20<sup>th</sup> century. However, the collaboration between a luxury brand and a streetwear brand is a relatively new concept. Bobb (2019) stated that the start of fashion collaboration dates back to the 2010s while Karl Lagerfeld and H&M collaboration back in 2004 is one of the most important steps in this new business. Karl Lagerfeld's collaboration has marked an entirely new stage in the entire fashion industry. This process affected both the fashion industry and other industries as well. The increasing number of non-fashion brands started to show interest in collaborations with fashion brands as well. Jang (2006) expressed that the collaboration between fashion brands and the industry is at a high level.

The high level of collaboration has also led to view this collaboration at a different level. Bobb (2019) explained that collaboration in the fashion industry might be regarded as an important and applicable marketing strategy. Marketing is an integral part of any industry including the fashion industry. As collaborations in the fashion industry have become a new means of marketing, the interest in such practices has increased among different participants of the sector. Celebrities as one of the most important participants of the fashion industry started to be more interested in working with fashion brands. As Bobb (2019) explained, there has been a wide range of celebrity collaborations with fashion brands such as Rihanna with Puma, Beyonce with Balmain, Cardi B with Fashion Nova, and Kanye West with Adidas. This has been only the beginning of a new implementation field in the fashion industry.

Fashion brands and other industries have taken a step forward in working together. In addition to collaboration, Ahn, Kim, and Forney (2009) suggested that co-marketing alliances that occur between different sectors such as fashion and furniture that result in Armani x Casa or Samsung x Armani collaborations are another way of fashion brand interaction. While this is relatively different from the collaboration in the fashion

industry, co-marketing alliances can reflect the direction and scope of how these new practices can entirely change the fashion landscape.

While there are some studies (Gordon, 2017; Shen et. Al., 2014) focused on the brand side of the fashion collaborations, it is also important to evaluate the consumer side of the fashion collaborations. Without consumers, it is not possible to talk about any fashion brand either luxury or streetwear. Therefore, the views of consumers are important in terms of the widespread implementation of these collaborations. Gordon (2017) expressed that each collaboration between brands should include a meaningful cultural exchange element rather than a cash-oriented approach. If the entire collaboration is money or revenue-oriented, then the reaction from the consumers might not be at desired levels. The cultural exchange between the brands might enable the consumers to feel closer to the brand and change their purchasing habits as well as purchasing decision-making processes (Gordon, 2017).

The consumers of the fashion industry have different demands. Shen et al. (2014) stated that consumers perceive luxury brands as fashion brands with a higher status that can be purchased for higher prices. This perception is an important motivation for the consumers' purchase decisions. However, collaborations between luxury fashion brands and streetwear brands are making luxurious brands more accessible to a wider consumer range. Sherman (2019) clarified that with luxurious fashion brands and streetwear brand collaborations on capsule collections, the average consumers have the chance to purchase and use luxury brands. Therefore, an increasing number of consumers can access these luxurious brands without paying that much compared to directly purchasing an item from the brand. Yet, this might lead to changes in consumer perception. In terms of consumer perception, Shen et al. (2014) stated that the need for uniqueness is one of the key drivers of the consumers towards fashion cobranding in the fast fashion. More collaborations in the fashion sector might decrease this sense of uniqueness. Shen et al. (2014) further noted that consumers' willingness to purchase a product reflects the purchase perception. In this sense, fashion brands need to consider the perception of consumers towards these collaborations to better evaluate the collaboration opportunities and to utilize the opportunities that would benefit both the brands and the consumers.

#### 2.5 Brand Perception

Brand perception is one of the key elements to drive consumers to purchase certain products and services. The brand concept is tightly connected with perception itself (Wright, 2006). Therefore, it is important to understand the perception concept at the first stage and then look into the brand perception aspects of this concept. According to Wright (2006), perception is one of the key elements in marketing practices. In these marketing practices, different elements such as color, music, and smell are used. While these elements can be used individually, it is possible to combine color and music or smell and taste simultaneously. Therefore, the perception can be influenced by past experiences, culture, and feelings of an individual (Wright, 2006). Attribution theory is one of the most important theories associated with perception and human behavior. Fiske, and Taylor (1991) defined this theory as the use of information by a social perceiver to find an explanation for the things they are experiencing by gathering information and interpreting or judging it.

In terms of marketing and communication, color plays an important role (Wright, 2006). Each marketing campaign should be created to match the positive perception of the target audience. Wright (2006) expressed that Tesco's brand is associated with the red, blue, and white color while Ikea is associated with yellow and blue color as well as McDonalds is associated with red and yellow color. When an individual sees these color combinations, the brain will be stimulated so that the individual will perceive the color combinations to remember the brand that uses these combinations. From this perspective, it is clear that human perception is subject to change with the right stimulus. Colors can be used as a strong communication tool as they can stimulate the senses of people while affecting the perception of individuals. However, color is not the only factor that has an impact on the perception of consumers. For example, the "Just do it" slogan by Nike or the "The pause that refreshes" slogan by Coca-Cola can be given as the most important elements of audio stimuli (Wright, 2006).

One of the current topics in consumer perception has been the cultural differences between individuals (Pantano, 2011). As expressed by Solomon, and Stuart (2005), exposure, selection, and interpretation can be identified as the three aspects of consumer perception. A consumer is first exposed to certain stimuli such as color or sound. Then, the same consumer selects among these stimuli. The last stage of perception is interpretation. Accordingly, there might be regional or authenticity aspects that might influence consumer perception (Pantano, 2011). The information can be collected according to the selection, accidental or intentional behavior, social desirability, hedonistic relevance, and personalism (Jones, and Davis, 1965).

Communication strategies necessitate an understanding of consumers' behavior. It is important to focus on the factors affecting consumer perception. Consumer perception is an indispensable factor in the purchasing decision journey (Lumen, 2021). Since perception can be shaped by learning, past experienced, and expectations, brands must be consistent with their brand image. A previous customer with a bad experience with a brand will probably have a negative perception towards that brand. In this sense, customer retention and customer loyalty could be the two key factors for brands to focus to influence consumer perception (Mack, 2019).

The way consumers perceive the brands and act according to their perception have always attracted the attention of marketers to understand the consumers in a deeper manner. Various researches are conducted to learn brand perception with consumer differences, consumer choices and their cultural background Consumer perception is a multi-dimensional field that requires special attention to individual consumer properties and characteristics to ensure better communication. Accordingly, social psychology theories can be used effectively for strong communication and consumer retention strategies.

From this perspective, it is important to focus on this aspect of brand perception as well. In terms of brand perception, Forouid et al. (2018) explained brand perception under six components which are brand association, perceived quality, brand awareness, brand image, brand fondness, and product country image. In this sense, brand association is about emotional attachment, defining the brand and sense of belonging to the brand. This concept is also related to brand loyalty. Perceived quality is about how consumers understand and evaluate the quality of a brand or products/services of a brand. Brand awareness among these components is about the knowledge level of the consumers regarding the brand. Brand awareness would be high if the brand is known by a large audience. Brand image is defined as the thoughts

and images formed by marketing communication activities in the minds of the consumers The marketing communication activities play a key role in creating and reflecting the image of a brand. Therefore, brand image and marketing communication efforts are interrelated. According to Foroudi et al. (2018), brand fondness has three key components which are emotional association, functional association and attitudinal association. All of these three components define brand fondness and how much a consumer prefers a brand. The last component which is the product country image is highly related to Keller's (2006) holistic approach and the fact that some brands have special connections with their home country. All of these brand perception components proposed by Forouid et al. (2018) play a key role in evaluating how consumers perceive a specific brand.

## 2.6 Generation Z

Generation Z, also known as the "Zoomers", represents the individuals born between 1995 and 2010 (Dimock, 2019). Since this generation is directly born into technology and the internet, the individuals in this generation are often called digital nomads (Dimock, 2019). Compared to previous generations such as Millennials, the internet is at the center of their life. These individuals are subjected to the internet technology and mobile systems as well as social networks from very early ages (Dimock, 2019). Therefore, most of their behaviors and habits are highly influenced by the online world and what happens on social networks. According to a study by McCradle (2021), Generation Z is composed of 2 to 2.5 billion individuals approximately. When this number is considered from the perspective of brands and businesses, 2 to 2.5 billion represents a giant new consumer segment. In a near future, these individuals will become the new active consumers in the market. Each member of this generation is going to be the luxury or retail consumer of the future. Yet, both brands and businesses need to understand the habits and behaviors of this new generation as they significantly differ from the previous generations we have experienced until today.

Mobility plays a key role in the life of generation Z (Dimock, 2019). Also, the influence of social media and social media celebrities is significantly effective (Dimock, 2019). Today, these individuals find influencers more trusting than any giant and corporate brands (Dimock, 2019). From this perspective, it is possible to state that

social media and influencers have become vital source for this generation. The individuals in this generation are huge supporters of social campaigns such as the LGBTQ+ and BLM movement (Amed et al., 2019). The involvement in such campaigns shows that this generation has a different approach than the traditional identity definitions. The members of this generation expect to build their own communities rather than trying to fit in an existing community (Amed et al., 2019). The rules of society are no longer valid as the members of this generation are making their own rules and communities (Solomon, and Rabolt, 2009). The sub-cultures are gaining more and more interest all around the world (Solomon, and Rabolt, 2009). All of these different perspectives and attitudes change how Generation Z views the brands and engage in consumption habits. Therefore, it is important to understand the core characteristics of this generation before conducting a study to understand their attitudes towards and perceptions of luxury and street wear brands' collaborations in fashion.

The consumption habits of each generation are different from its predecessor. In the past, fashion and the rules of fashion were determined by the upper class. Also called trickle-down theory, fashion was the main playground of the upper classes and aristocracy (Amed et al., 2019). However, things have significantly changed in today's world. Today, fashion is highly connected with the sub-cultures as well as the lower classes. The trends are set by the lower classes and the decision power of the high classes in trends has disappeared (Solomon, and Rabolt, 2009). In this sense, this shift in the fashion world reflected the consumption habits of Generation Z (Solomon, and Rabolt, 2009). This generation no longer considers brands as the products of the high and elite culture they intend to belong to (Solomon, and Rabolt, 2009). Instead, Generation Z is more focused on making their own trends inspired by and empowered by their own subcultures (Solomon, and Rabolt, 2009).

The passive consumer role is no longer desired. A participatory design approach is one of the main desires of these individuals (IBM Institute for Business Value, 2017). The individuals in this generation care about personalizing their products (IBM Institute for Business Value, 2017). From this perspective, brands need to find new ways to enable the individuals in Generation Z to take part in the product design process in some way. For example, the customizable products of Nike can be one of the methods

employed by the brands for more consumer involvement (Nike, 2011). Such involvement can help brands communicate with Generation Z easier. In addition, customization enables Generation Z to be a part of a community to which they feel close. With customization, they can create symbols specific to the sub-culture they belong to (Nike, 2011). Thus, this inclusive aspect can be regarded as a multi-layered structure that has both cultural and social components. The sense of belonging to the community they want is highly popular among Generation Z. The discrimination and the boundaries between different groups are eliminated to bring an environment where anyone can be a member of any community (Nike, 2011).

Besides, Generation Z is keen on making detailed research before a purchasing decision (Francis, and Hoefel, 2018). This research process involves searching about the product properties, price comparisons as well as brand approach and brand image. Especially price comparisons play a key role in the decision-making process of these individuals (Francis, and Hoefel, 2018). The individuals in Generation Z actively use social media channels and their favorite social media celebrities to make their product research (Francis, and Hoefel, 2018).

Another key property of Generation Z is their attitudes towards the social responsibility aspects of the brands. Today, brands need to engage with social and environmental problems. Brands need to raise their voice and have their unique voice to defend a cause. The individuals of Generation Z want to take part in these movements. Brands need to reflect their opinions about social issues. In addition, Generation Z expects the brands to either organize or take part in the campaigns organized for such social issues. For example, #metoo, #blacklivesmatter, and #timesup campaigns have been followed by brands (Amed et al., 2019). Participation in these campaigns by the brands plays a key role in the purchasing decision-making process of Generation Z. The members of this generation prefer the brands and businesses that take a stand for social and environmental issues rather than just trying to sell their product (Solomon, and Rabolt, 2009).

All of these consumption habits indicate an entirely new marketing landscape for the brands and especially for the luxury brands. Today, luxury brands including fine dining, luxury clothing, and accessories sectors need to re-structure themselves to meet the different needs and expectations of Generation Z. Luxury and consumption of

luxury are changing for this generation. Currently, affordable fashion is becoming increasingly widespread all around the world (Solomon, and Rabolt, 2009). This could be regarded as a major threat for the brands. If brands fail to adapt to the changing consumption habits and behaviors of this generation, then the future might bring more risks.

As mentioned in the previous chapters, Generation Z has different characteristics and perceptions when it comes to luxury brands and fast-fashion brands. 95% of Generation Z interacts with luxury brands by using social media channels (Muret, 2019). Such interaction can be a breakthrough in terms of luxury brand interaction for this generation. In an environment where an increasing number of luxury fashion collaborations are visible, the perception of this generation plays a vital role as they will become the key consumer segment in the near future.

When it comes to luxury fashion brand collaborations, Adidas and Hey Tea collaboration can be given as an important example in the Chinese market (CCI Team, 2020). China is one of the most important markets in the luxury brand consumption sector. Chinese consumers cannot give up on luxury consumption (Muret, 2019). It is estimated that the luxury brand consumption among Chinese consumers will increase from 35% to 40% in 2025 (Muret, 2019). These numbers express a market with high revenue potentials for the fashion brands and the apparel sector in a generation.

In general, most of the studies on Generation Z and luxury fashion collaborations focus on the Chinese market (Muret, 2019). The most important reason for such focus is the potential of the Chinese market in terms of consumers. A study on Chinese Generation Z consumers shows that 67% of the Generation Z consumers prefer the products as a result of collaboration between fast-fashion brands and luxury brands (Muret, 2019). This number is highly promising for the fashion brands and fashion industry. These brands can use luxury brand collaborations to address the Generation Z members.

Another study on the Chinese Generation Z consumer revealed that these consumers want mega collaborations among luxury brands and fast-fashion brands as they want to have products that are new, innovative, and stand out in the crowd (CCI Team, 2020). These studies show that Generation Z in China is open to luxury brand collaborations in general. One of the reasons for such collaborations to be attractive

among Generation Z consumers is that such collaborations are perceived as cool by these individuals (Muret, 2019). This generation is often interested in how they perceive the brand rather than how other individuals perceive the brand. Besides, a sense of coolness is considered an important value among the members of this generation (Hanssen,2018). Furthermore, the collaborations between Nike and other brands are also favored by Generation Z members.

#### 2.7 Previous Research and Research Gap

Consumers' brand perception plays a key role for brands. As the brans understand how consumers feel about a certain product, they can make important decisions such as continuing to manufacture the product, discontinue manufacturing it, or introducing a new product line to meet the changing demands.

Fast-fashion brands gained importance across marketing and communications research as the demand for such brands increased over time. Brands such as H&M attract the attention researchers in the fields of marketing and communication (Dach, and Allmendiger, 2014; Bonilla et al., 2019; Loureiro, Serra, and Guerreiro, 2019; Shen et al., 2014; Bin, Choi, and Chow, 2017). When the literature is reviewed on regarding the perception of Generation Z for luxury brands collaborations of the fast-fashion brand H&M, the majority of the research related to H&M focuses on the Chinese market or the sustainability acts of the brand at the international level (Dach, and Allmendiger, 2014; Bonilla et al., 2019; Loureiro, Serra, and Guerreiro, 2019; Shen et al., 2014; Bin, Choi, and Chow, 2017).

Dach, and Allmendiger (2014) focused on how the sustainability efforts of the H&M brand contributed to consumer perception and consumer awareness. The authors investigated the corporate website of H&M and applied a semi-structured survey to the consumer to measure their perspectives on brand awareness. However, this study focused on general consumers rather than a specific group such as Generation Z. Also, the main idea of the study was to reveal the perceptions of individuals in terms of the sustainability of H&M (Dach, and Allmendinger, 2014). They found that corporate images affect people's perceptions of web-based corporate sustainability communications.

Bonilla et al. (2019) examined how Instagram influencers interact with the fashion sector via brands such as H&M. This study mainly focused on understanding the relationship between H&M as a fast-fashion company and Instagram users. Since Generation Z is considered as the major social media and especially Instagram users, understanding the relationship between these individuals and H&M brands is important. The authors investigated the level of interaction and engagement between the Instagram users and the H&M official account. This study's main focus was on the content of the message, the communication strategy of the company while the product category presented in the post (Bonilla, Arriaga, and Andreu, 2019). The study found that content of the message influenced the purchasing decision. The message that was more intimate for the consumers drove more sales.

Also, there were studies related to social media and fashion brands in the related literature (Loureiro, Serra, and Guerreiro, 2019; Shen et al., 2014; Bin, Choi, and Chow, 2017). However, these studies often focus on luxury brands alone without considering the fast-fashion brands or the collaborations with the fast-fashion brands. Loureiro, Serra, and Guerreiro (2019) investigated the social media engagements of fashion brands. This study compares how fashion brands communicate on social media. For this purpose, the authors focused on 6 luxury fashion brands to determine the online communication strategies of these brands.

On the other hand, Shen et al. (2014) focused on brand loyalty in designer luxury and the collaborations between luxury brands and fast-fashion brands. The co-branding efforts of H&M with other luxury brands have been investigated by the authors in terms of brand loyalty. The authors stated that the best outcome for the brands was mergers rather than co-branding efforts. This means that brands need to merge with other brands rather than working together with brands to create a single brand from two companies. However, the results declared by the authors also indicated that the collaboration between the luxury brands and fast-fashion brands such as H&M can significantly benefit both parties (Bin, Choi, and Chow, 2017).

Mrad et al. (2018) investigated the designer brand and fast-fashion brand collaborations for H&M among the UK consumers. The fast-fashion retailer H&M has been involved in various collaborations with different luxury brands. The authors investigated how the consumers reacted to such collaborations between the luxury

brands and H&M as a fast-fashion brand. The participants were selected from the UK. The results of the study revealed that the brand awareness for H&M was increased with these collaboration projects including word-of-mouth marketing and self-expressiveness of consumers on different platforms (Mrad, Farah, and Haddad, 2018). Although this study focused on H&M and luxury brand collaborations, the age group of the participants is not clearly defined. It is not possible to understand the perceptions of Generation Z for such collaborations. For this reason, a more specific target group is required for research. Also, the study has been conducted in the UK so that the results represent the consumption habits and perceptions of the individuals in that country.

Shen et al. (2014) investigated the impacts of co-branding in the fast-fashion industry with H&M. Co-branding is one of the most common practices employed by H&M over the last decade. This collaboration between the luxury brands and the fast-fashion brands is often referred to as "fast-fashion co-branding". The authors considered the consumer perspectives for H&M in terms of product uniqueness and product purchases when it comes to fast-fashion co-branding. A survey was designed and applied by the authors to participants in Hong Kong. The results obtained by the authors indicated the consumers' desire for uniqueness when it comes to fashion brands (Shen et al., 2014).

Ginman et al. (2010) explored the collaboration of H&M with the luxury designers in the early days of this collaboration which include Karl Lagerfeld project. The authors found that the H&M collaboration with the luxury designers had a positive impact on H&M as the brand can get attention from new consumers. The authors concluded that collaborations with suitable partners can significantly contribute to both parties while the consumers continue to have confidence in the luxury brands even though they engage in collaboration with a fast-fashion brand (Ginman, Lundell, and Turek, 2010).

Another study by Alexandra, and Cerchia (2018) investigated the brand equity side of H&M by considering the luxury brand collaborations. For this purpose, the authors applied a literature review to understand the effects of brand loyalty, perceived quality, and brand association on consumer behavior. This study only investigated the existing literature without measuring the perception of the real consumers.

In another study that focused on consumer perception towards fast-fashion brands, Jiang (2020) investigated the perception of Chinese and British consumers towards fast-fashion brands such as H&M and Zara. The author conducted a comparative study to better understand and reveal the consumption and perception differences between two different countries. A survey was conducted on Chinese participants and British participants to measure the consumption attitude and consumption behaviors of these participants towards H&M and Zara (Alexandra, and Cherchia, 2018). The authors found that Chinese participants had more positive consumption attitudes and behaviors than British consumers which lead to more purchasing among Chinese consumers.

Kim, and Ko (2012) conducted research on Korean consumers to understand the impact of six different collaborations in two different sectors which included H&M and Sonia Rykiel as well as Uniqlo and Jill Sander, Levi's and Jean Paul Gaultier, LG and Prada, Samsung and Armani, and LG and Levi's to understand the effects of the collaboration type and brand sensitivity. For this purpose, the authors identified four factors to evaluate which were emotional value, perceived quality, symbolic value, and brand association. The results revealed that the collaboration type and the brand sensitivity affected strategic marketing elements on consumer responses (Kim, and Ko, 2012).

When the studies in the Turkish literature are analyzed, it is observed that the consumer perception studies are generally limited to other generations such as Generation Y. Furthermore, the studies related to Generation Z and consumption perceptions mainly focus on the consumption of electronic goods such as smartphones (Arıkan, and Kılıç, 2017; Durmaz, and Dağ, 2018).

A study conducted by Arıkan, and Kılıç (2017) investigates the shopping style of the Generation Y consumers based on gender. The authors focused on apparel shopping behaviors and perceptions of Generation Y consumers. A survey was conducted for participants between 18 and 36 years old. The consumption behaviors and perceptions of Generation Y were divided into 7 factors of quality awareness, brand awareness, search for innovation, hedonistic consumption, confusion due to a wide range of options, brand loyalty, and fashion awareness.

In terms of brand loyalty, a study by Durmaz, and Dağ (2018) investigated the impacts of brand uniqueness on brand loyalty for smartphone brands in Turkey. The authors applied a survey to participants and found that continuity, originality, and uniqueness sub-dimensions of the brand contributed to brand loyalty. The studies in the Turkish literature lack any examples including Generation Z in the fashion and apparel sector. The main focus for these studies has been smartphone consumption or Generation Y.

When these studies in the global and Turkish literature are considered, there are only a few studies that focus on the brand collaborations between luxury brands and fast-fashion brands such as H&M. Furthermore, the literature review revealed that these few studies that focus on the fast-fashion co-branding practices are conducted in either China or Hong Kong. On the other hand, the literature review regarding the Turkish studies shows that there is a research gap in terms of fashion brand studies regarding Generation Z as well as fast-fashion co-branding practices. Therefore, this study aims to investigate the perceptions of Generation Z regarding the co-branding efforts of the fast-fashion brand of H&M and various luxury fashion brands around the world. Such investigation is expected to reveal the perceptions of the Turkish Generation Z consumers which will play a key role in the future in terms of consumption.

## **CHAPTER 3: METHODOLOGY**

The consumers often buy new products based on how they look, what color they are, what is the design and whether the product is popular among other users. Furthermore, brand awareness, perceived quality, brand association, brand fondness, brand image, and product country image also play a key role in the consumers' brand perceptions (Foroudi et al., 2018). All of these factors must be considered to better understand how the consumers perceive a brand. In addition to that, the brand perceptions might differ according to various generations. For example, the products and services preferred by the baby boomers would significantly differ from the products and services preferred by the Generation Z. The main reason for such difference in product or service preference is due to different characteristics and worldviews of these different generations. As Dimock (2019) expressed, Generation Z is called the Zoomers and this generation spends a lot of time on the internet and digital environments. As the time spend on the internet and digital environments increase, the consumption behavior of this new generation might be different than the previous generations. From this perspective, this study concentrates on the brand perception of the members of Generation Z who will become the main consumer base in the near future.

Brand perception is one of the key components in marketing field as well as the fashion industry. Brand perception is related to how consumers or potential consumers understand or view of that brand in various terms such as quality, price, reputation (Foroudi et al., 2018). One of the main drivers for consumers to purchase a product is based on the brand perception they have towards that product. The perception of a brand by consumers and potential consumers can impact the brand loyalty as well as the purchasing intention (Foroudi et al., 2018). If a consumer perceives a brand as a high-quality brand, the purchase intention might increase (Foroudi et al., 2018). On the other hand, the lack of uniqueness might have a negative impact on the purchasing intention (Foroudi et al., 2018). In these terms, brand perception is linked with numerous factors. Therefore, it is important to consider the factors and elements influencing this brand perception. H&M is one of the largest ready-made fashion brands around the world. In the last decade, H&M brand collaborated with various luxury fashion brands and launched special clothing products and accessories with these brands.

The theoretical framework of this study is built on the study presented by Foroudi et al. (2018) focusing on the perceptional components of brand equity by considering the path to brand loyalty and brand purchase intention. The reference study investigated the Latin American consumers in terms of brand perception. Furthermore, the main focus on this study is the fashion industry. There are only few studies that focus on consumer perception in the fashion industry as the fashion industry sector is a relatively undiscovered area. By focusing on this industry, it is possible to provide insights to fashion marketers and brands regarding the views and opinions of their customers.

The study suggest that the brand perception management is strongly linked with various brand equity perceptional elements. This means that the perceptions of the consumers towards a brand is one of the key indicators for brands to consider in terms of managing their brands. When the brand perception is considered, it is necessary to determine and interpret the customer brand perception constructs. In general, the definition of the brand perception can be provided as the customers' associations and beliefs about a brand (Foroudi et al., 2018). These brand associations and beliefs might be positive or negative. In either case, brand perception has a strong emotional side as it is built on beliefs and conceptions about a brand, its products or services.

From this perspective, it can be seen that the brand perception has various factors and components. However, it is possible to classify these factors and components under 6 main titles which are brand association, perceived quality, brand awareness, brand image, brand fondness and product country image (Foroudi et al., 2018). These 6 factors play a key role for the consumers to create a brand perception. The current study attempts to investigate at what extend do these 6 factors of brand perception are visible for the A income segment generation Z consumers in Turkey in terms of H&M and luxury brand collaborations. Since high quality brand perception is linked with fondness, association and loyalty, it is important to provide an in-depth analysis and investigation for these components (Foroudi et al., 2018). Accordingly, the current study is based on a preliminary questionnaire and an in-depth interview model to further investigate the components that impact the consumer perception.

According to Maxwell (2008), a research design should consider five key elements which are the goal, conceptual framework, research question, methods, and validity.

All these five elements are considered in this study to design qualitative research. The research question focused on understanding the perceptions of Generation Z towards the luxury brand collaborations of H&M. First, a survey is designed to select the participants of the research among the followers of a fashion blogger? who shares the latest trends in fashion to ensure the participants belong to Generation Z and are aware of the collaboration. The survey and interview questions used in this study are provided in Appendix A and Appendix B. In most cases, a pilot study is beneficial before conducting the real study. The main benefits that come with the pilot study can be summarized as follows. As expressed by Woken (2013), a pilot study enables testing the created hypothesis for refining these hypotheses to better address the objectives of the study. Further, a pilot study will provide new insights to the researcher that were not predicted at the beginning of the study. Thus, the researcher can address these problems and include the unforeseen circumstances to the main study. Malmqvist et al. (2019) suggested that certain adaptations can be made based on the results of the pilot study which would further improve the quality of the study. When these benefits of conducting a pilot study are considered, it was necessary to apply the research questions to a small group, who provided valuable information about how to modify or the questions in the designed research.

## 3.1 Sample Selection

The participants of this study are selected with criterion sampling, which is among the purposeful sampling methods for qualitative data collection along with data analysis processes (Palinkas et al., 2015). Since this study is designed as a qualitative study, it is appropriate to use one of the purposeful sampling methods. The criterion sampling method involves selecting the individuals that meet certain criteria determined before the sample selection process (Palinkas et al., 2015). For this study, the criteria are selected as to be a member of Generation Z who shops from H&M brand's collaborations with other luxury designers and brands at least once. The gender specification is not the main focus of this study so that it is not taken into account while selecting the participants in this study. For the pilot study, 30 participants were selected for the in-depth interviews. The reason for this selection is based on a study by Palinkas et al. (2015) suggesting that criterion sampling which is about choosing participants to

meet the purpose of the study will provide more accurate results about predicting and validating the hypothesis.

The conceptual framework is designed on H&M as the fast-fashion brand and its collaborations with luxury brands and designers. For this purpose, participants from Generation Z and A socioeconomic status (SES) are selected. The main reason to choose the A SES level is that this group tends to be more interested in fashion and buying fashion products. The main idea behind this study is to better understand the views of generation Z towards fast fashion and luxury fashion brands to help brands to position themselves better to address to the needs of this new consumer segment. The goal of this study is to find out whether such collaborations are favorable for Generation Z members as well as whether such collaborations contribute to brand value. For this reason, the conducted survey and in-depth interviews consisted of a series of questions to reveal the demographics, consumer preferences, and behaviors of the participants and their general opinions about H&M and its collaborations. Therefore, in-depth interviews are included with the participants to determine the main themes and categories that participants would like to highlight. In this study, the collections prepared for the collaborations of H&M with Balmain in 2015, Kenzo in 2016, Erdem in 2017, Moschino in 2018 and Giambattista Valli in 2019 were examined. These collections, based on the recognition of the Balmain cooperation in Turkey, include all the collaborations made until the pandemic period, with increasing consumer interest and PR activities since 2015. Furthermore, these collaborations are the most admired and followed collections by Generation Z in Turkey (detailed interviews have proven this). Also, these collaborations were chosen in order to examine the brand perception of the Z generation, which is at the A-class socioeconomic level in Turkey, as well as the cooperation understanding among different segments.

Participant	Age	<b>Education Level</b>	City
Participant 1	26	University	İstanbul
Participant 2	21	University Stud.	İzmir
Participant 3	20	University Stud.	Ankara
Participant 4	26	University	İzmir
Participant 5	23	University Stud.	İstanbul
Participant 6	23	University Stud.	İzmir
Participant 7	20	University Stud.	Ankara
Participant 8	21	University Stud.	İzmir
Participant 9	26	University	İzmir
Participant 10	21	University Stud.	Ankara
Participant 11	18	University Stud.	İzmir
Participant 12	22	University Stud.	Ankara
Participant 13	22	University Stud.	İstanbul
Participant 14	22	University Stud.	İzmir
Participant 15	26	University	İzmir
Participant 16	23	University	İzmir
Participant 17	18	University Stud.	İzmir
Participant 18	18	University Stud.	İstanbul
Participant 19	26	University	İstanbul
Participant 20	19	University Stud.	İstanbul
Participant 21	18	University Stud.	İzmir
Participant 22	26	University	Ankara
Participant 23	19	University Stud.	İzmir
Participant 24	24	University Stud.	Ankara
Participant 25	23	University Stud.	İstanbul
Participant 26	21	University Stud.	İzmir
Participant 27	26	University	İzmir
Participant 28	22	University Stud.	İzmir
Participant 29	19	University Stud.	Ankara
Participant 30	19	University Stud.	İstanbul
Participant 31	23	University Stud.	İzmir
Participant 32	22	University Stud.	İzmir
Participant 33	26	Master's Degree	Ankara

Table 1. Demographic information of the participants

After completing the pilot study, the questions in the designed survey were reviewed. The review showed that the questions are well-designed to measure the key objectives of this study. Thus, the initials questions in the survey were not modified or changed. The designed survey was applied as it is to the main study group. This study aims to investigate the perception of younger generation consumers especially gen Z consumers to purchase and follow fashion products and fashion brands. For this purpose, semi-structured interviews are conducted on a group of participants. In all studies, sample size and sample size selection play a critical role. As expressed by Whitehead at al. (2016), the sample size must be justified with both for the main participant group and the pilot participant group. Accordingly, choosing a high sample size with recurring answers can lead to statistically insignificant results which would then cause inconclusive results. Therefore, the pilot participant group of this study was limited to 4 participants and the main participant group of this study was limited to 33 participants. The participants selected for the interviews were from Istanbul, Ankara, and İzmir provinces of Turkey. The participants are between 18-26 years old with the average age of 22.05 years old. While 5 of the participants gad undergraduate degree, the remaining 12 are high school graduates. All of the participants reported A level family income.

Demographic information of 33 participants who participated in the in-depth interviews is given in the Table 1. This table, which consists of age, education level, city of residence and household income level, allows us to better analyze the answers of the participants to the open ended questions.

## 3.2 Data Collection

The questions of the survey are designed to determine the participant group. The questions which are provided in Appendix A aim to find the right group to conduct the in-depth interviews. Conducing an in-depth interview on an unrelated group will prevent obtaining meaningful results. As suggested by Palinkas et al. (2015

), the participant group for this study should be selected by criterion sampling to obtain more accurate results. For this purpose, a pilot study is conducted which determined the criterion that the participants must meet to participate to that study. During this pilot survey, consent is collected from the participants. The in-depth interview questions are included to have detailed input about the perceptions of the participants regarding H&M and luxury brand collaborations. Boyce, and Neale (2006) suggested that in-depth studies adopt open-ended questions which provide clearer answers to discover the research topic in more detail. This study focuses on discovering the ideas of the generation Z regarding the collaboration projects between fast fashion brands and luxury brands. Therefore, it is important to get as much as information and data possible to uncover the underlying reasons and ideas. Furthermore, the study by Foroudi et al. (2018) adopted a similar study design to investigate the brand perception. The open-ended questions in an in-depth interview can be designed in a way to explore all the components and factors that are desired to be investigated. In this study, brand association, perceived quality, brand awareness, brand fondness, brand image, and product country image related to brand perception are investigated. The experiences and expectations of the participants towards these collaboration projects are investigated. The interviews lasted about 45-60 minutes. Such interviews are important to uncover the real thoughts and views of individuals regarding a certain topic. In addition, the unexpected answers could also be reviewed in the interview process which could further contribute to the study as it is expected to understand and explain the investigated topic in more detail. Accordingly, open-ended questions would create an environment for the participants to freely express their real views and ideas (Boyce, and Neale, 2006). Therefore, the in-depth interview questions of this study are designed with open-ended questions. Keeping it in mind, the in-depth interview is designed to cater to various sets of questions to reveal the underlying perspective. The most important thing to be considered here is the main characteristics of generation Z which are outlined in detail above. Gender also plays a key role when it comes to perceptions about brands and fashion. This study includes both male and female participants. When it comes to gender, Generation Z reimagines gender without a definite set of rules and boundaries (Kenney, 2020). The perception of gender is more fluid in this gender. Since Generation Z has more fluid gender norms, this study did not consider any gender differences or set any gender criteria to select participants.

The interviews were transcribed and the participants' answers were grouped under certain categories and themes. These themes depend on the conceptualization of brand perception suggested in the study of Foroudi et al. (2018) to reflect the perceptions of members of Generation Z towards the collaboration of H&M as a fast-fashion brand

with luxury brands and designers. Finally, the obtained results are compared with the annual reports of H&M that are published to assess the overall financial and social impacts of the company in that year. For this purpose, the 2020 annual report by H&M and the 2021 first-quarter report by H&M are used to reveal more recent data about the company.



## **CHAPTER 4: FINDINGS**

In today's world, consumers increasingly fast fashion brands over luxury brands. As suggested by Cachon, and Swinney (2011), the fast fashion trend among the fashion companies such as Zara and H&M is increasing more than ever. However, the behavior to such shift to fast fashion brands might have various underlying reasons. First and most importantly, the brand perceptions of the consumers might be changed. In addition to that, the number of collaboration projects between fast fashion brands and luxury brands are increasing more than ever. Luxury brands are open towards new projects that involve fast fashion brands with high coverage across a wide range of consumer base. As these brands opt for following the fast fashion practices which involve releasing collections almost throughout the year, the consumers are feeling the necessity to buy new products. The findings of this study consist of content analysis conducted from the interviewed participants and by considering the brand perception framework presented by Foroudi et al. (2018). Accordingly, brand awareness, perceived quality, brand association, brand fondness, brand image, and product country image which were the six key factors proposed by Foroudi et al. (2018) were adopted for evaluating the results obtained from this study. The detailed comparison of the results obtained from the survey applied in this study and Foroudi et al. (2018)'s framework is presented in the discussion and conclusion sections. The findings section only provides the findings of this study based on the applied research method.

In most cases, Generation Z sees the collaboration between fast-fashion brands and luxury brands as a way to access relatively expensive luxury brands. Yet, the secondhand consumption of luxury brands is not favored as much as these collaborations. While there is still demand luxury second-hand consumption to brands such as Chanel and Balenciaga (Muret, 2019), the general tendency for Generation Z is to purchase luxury brand collaboration products with fast-fashion brands. This perceptive shows that luxury fashion collaborations will continue to play a vital role in the fashion industry. As an increasing number of brands engage in such collaborations, their chances to increase their revenues and brand awareness might increase. These brands need to follow methods to handle the unique needs and consumption characteristics of Generation Z. Therefore, both the luxury brands and the fast-fashion brands need to have an in-depth understanding of the fashion and fashion brand perspectives of Generation Z.

The participants of this study stated that they are looking for environmental sustainability, innovation, and dynamic design while shopping H&M brand. Another finding of this study is that the participants defined H&M brand as young, basic, accessible, sustainable, and colorful. Besides, the participants expressed that such collaborations allow luxury brands more accessible to the different segments of the consumer mass.

All three participants emphasized that accessibility of the brand also enabled them to follow the brand without putting in too much effort.

This study presents the findings and the views of the participants to better explain these findings. All of the participants are coded as participant 1, participant 2 ... participant 33. The direct quotations from the participants will provide in-depth information about their perceptions towards H&M and luxury brand collaboration. Almost all of the participants (n=33) expressed that they are following fashion trends. This might be mainly related to the age group of the participants. For example, participant 6 expressed that:

"I am frequently checking the online shopping platforms of ready-wear brands and of course, I follow them on social media via influencers. In addition to that, I specifically visit the Instagram pages of the brands to check the products."

Participant 17 expressed that:

"I am following fashion as much as I can. But I frequently check what is on the market in new seasons and during discount periods."

Based on these views and the similar views of the other participants, it can be said that the participants are following the fashion brands both on regular basis and for special events such as new seasons releases and discount periods.

The answers provided by the participants were evaluated based on Forouid et al. (2018)'s framework for brand perception. The answers provided by the participants of this study provide important insights for brand perception and purchasing intention.

Findings for each component of brand perception are presented under a separate title. Presenting the results of each component under a separate title is believed to provide better insight for the six key components which are brand association, perceived quality, brand awareness, brand image, brand fondness and product country image.

#### 4.1 Brand Awareness

Brand awareness is a key component of brand perception. The level of knowledge about a brand and getting notified about the news of a brand might have a significant impact on purchasing intention as well as other components. Therefore, this study attempts to measure the brand awareness component of the brand perception. Accordingly, the brand awareness aspect of H&M and the luxury brands in the collaboration projects were investigated with a series of questions regarding how well the consumers know H&M and other luxury brands. When the participants were asked which luxury brands they know among these collaborations, 94% stated that they knew Kenzo, 88.23% stated that they knew Moschino, 76.5% stated that they knew Balmain, 70.5% stated that they knew Erdem, and 35.3% stated that they knew Giambattista Valli.

Also, when the participants were asked to state why they follow these brands, all participants expressed that they follow fashion and brands via digital environments. Most of the participants follow fashion brands on Instagram. For example, participant 21 stated that:

"Absolutely on digital media. I follow both social media platforms and professional fashion platforms. At the same time, I am really active on Instagram. I have subscribed to e-newsletters of fashion brands. I frequently get emails from these brands."

In addition to that, participant 32 stated that:

"I rarely read fashion magazines. I might have slight traditional media habit but I mostly follow digital media. I continue to follow people on Instagram especially influencers." As these answer show, the participants prefer digital media platforms and especially Instagram. Today, Instagram is an important online platform where individuals share their daily lives as well as exciting moments. Furthermore, individuals can find new ideas, inspirations and discover new brands from this social media platform. The sponsored posts and the discover section of this social media network enable Instagram users to see similar contents to the contents they share and follow. From this perspective, it is important to consider the influence and scope of Instagram on the fashion choices of individuals. Brands working with influencers might have a better chance to reach to generation Z as the individuals from this generation are getting information online. The information collected from the printed media is rare for this generation. Instagram is playing an increasing role in our everyday lives. Therefore, it is possible to state that this social media platform penetrates to daily aspects of our lives and shaping our fashion decisions.

When participants were asked where they follow these luxury brands, all of the participants stated that they follow the luxury brands on Instagram. For example, participant 4 stated that:

"I don't think I saw them in any other place than Instagram."

## Participant 11 expressed that:

"At this point, social media is the key determinant for me. I can say that I generally know about these processes over Instagram and influencers."

#### Participant 23 said that:

"I can say I directly get to know them from influencers. I don't need to research anything before about the details. Influencers already promote the collection to me."

When these answers are considered, it can be seen that Instagram and influencers play a key role to promote the luxury brand collaborations. The posts on this social media platform are an important element to expand the coverage of the luxury brand collaborations. All of the participants stated that they have shopped from H&M and they are planning to continue shopping from this brand. When the participants were asked whether they know about the luxury brand collaborations of H&M, all of the participants stated that they know about these collaborations. However, the extends of their knowledge varies. To give an example, participant 6 stated that

"Sometimes these collaborations are popular and sometimes we don't hear about them. I also get to know the very popular collections. I clearly remember Balmain, Kenzo and Erdem."

On the other hand, participant 8 stated that:

"I try to follow every year but I can think of Balmain, Kenzo and Erdem at once."

#### Participant 15 stated that:

"Although I am not a big fan, I check out which brands they have collaborated that year. The first brands I can remember are Balmain, Kenzo, Alexander Wang and Versace."

The participants were asked to list three affordable fashion brands they can think of. The main idea for these questions is to understand which brands do participants perceive as affordable. The affordability might depend on the household income and individual income. Therefore, it is possible to see that while one individual defines certain brand as affordable, others might find that brand expensive. The majority (70.5%) of the participants listed H&M as an affordable fashion brand. On the other hand, 58.8% of the participants listed Zara, 47% of the participants listed Pull&Bear, 17.6% of the participants listed Bershka and Stradivarius as affordable fashion brands. Some of the other brands listed as affordable by the participants were Mango, Trendyol Group, Koton, LCWaikiki, Twist, İpekyol, and Mavi. When these answers and the family income level of the individuals are considered, the definition for an affordable brand is similar among these participants. High-income participants expressed more expensive brands, while lower-income expressed stated affordable brands. Thus, the results obtained from this study will be more consistent as the participants have a similar perception about what is an affordable brand and what is a luxury brand. When

the participants were asked to list the fashion brands that collaborate with luxury fashion brands, 94.11% listed H&M. Only Participant 4 didn't list H&M among these brands. This also shows that the participants follow H&M and know this brand. In addition to H&M, participant 14 added Lacoste, Trendyol and Adidas; Participant 9 added Adidas; Participant-6 added Mavi and LCWaikiki and Participant 4 added ZARA.

In addition to the mode of coverage, the participants were asked to evaluate the communication between them and the fashion brands that collaborate with luxury brands. The answers for these questions were different. While some of the participants believed that the communication is good as they get to know the brand and the collection, others believe that the brands only focus on social media without considering the other groups. For example, participant 9 stated that:

"I think it is very successful. The brand can reach more higher achievements than they want with these communication campaigns. Thus, I believe they get very efficient results from this communication."

## Participant 15 said that:

"I think the communication is at a level it should be. I think they can make larger and more serious campaigns. As a result, these are huge campaigns and these efforts are insufficient at certain points in terms of showing off."

## Participant 27 said that

"There is the fact that the communication efforts are conducted directly over the influencers. Therefore, I think it is incomplete when we look at it from a broader perspective. I think they need to do a more effective communication effort to go beyond the individuals influenced by influencers."

When the participants were asked whether they followed these luxury brands on social media, the majority of the participants stated that they are somehow subjected to these luxury brands whether in their Instagram page or as sponsored posts.

## 4.2 Perceived Quality

Perceived quality is another important aspect of brand awareness. Perceived quality might be an important driver for the consumer purchasing behavior (Chen-Yu, Cho, and Kincade, 2016). Therefore, the questions were designed to measure the perceived quality of H&M. When participants were asked to define H&M, different qualities of the brand were emphasized. The reason for different qualities might be due to the inclusivity and diverseness of the brand. Each individual might have seen a different aspect of the brand and listed this aspect to define H&M. The most highlighted qualities of the brand were being basic, comfortable and affordable. Participant 17 stated that:

"I think the products it produces are simple and basic. They are not that vivid but they are attractive and functional. This is the image I perceive in general. This is what I see about this brand when I close my eyes."

# Further, participant 26 stated that:

"I directly think of a brand with basic and comfortable clothes. It generally has bigger stores in shopping malls than its competitors. I knew there are some policies about recycling but I am not sure."

#### Participant 28 stated that:

"I directly think about the discount season. Since it is on discount frequently, H&M started to lose its quality perception in my mind. The stores are generally complicated and tight. Therefore, you get lost inside throughout your shopping experience."

## Participant 16 stated that:

"If I talk about plus-size perception again, I think it is something good to have such a brand from Scandinavia which has skinny people. As a plus-size individual and as someone who fought with it for years, I like the feeling that H&M makes me happy with my body. I can say that I love the brand more in recent years compared to previous years." The perceived quality of the participants for H&M is similar to the brand's own white paper. H&M (2020) defines the brand quality in its own white paper as basic, environmentally conscious, inclusive, comfortable and simple. Since the participants' perception of brand quality overlaps with the brand value claimed by the brand itself, it is possible to say that brand quality is compatible with how consumers perceive the quality of this brand.

Participants were asked to evaluate why the collaboration collections are this popular and the collections run out of stock on the first day. The most common answer from the participants was that the collections are limited and there are only few products in the collection. Also, the participants stated that the prices play a key role as they can buy a collaboration product from a luxury brand which they cannot buy in their daily lives. For example, participant 11 stated that:

"I think the main reason is buying a luxury brand with an affordable price. Therefore, if I can buy a really good product from a very low price and if the product is limited, why wouldn't I go stand there in the queue?"

## Participant 14 said that:

"I did something similar for AdidasxYeezy collaboration so I can clearly understand these people. I think it is the pure desire to get the limited product. I don't think it is about prices because AdidasxYeezy collection had higher prices than a regular Adidas and I showed the same reaction. I think it is all about the instinct to have that product."

## Participant 32 said that:

"If you market a luxury-looking product and affordable product to people as limited edition, this is normal. But I think black market is no different than fraud. I think such things must be prevented by laws."

When these answers were considered, the main reason for the popularity of these collaboration collections are unclear. While some of the participants claim that it is due to achieving luxury brands with affordable prices, others suggest that it is pure instinct. The findings of this study were evaluated based on Forouid et al. (2018)'s

framework for brand perception. The answers provided by the participants of this study provide important insights for brand perception and purchasing intention. The details of these two elements will be explained in the discussion section

## 4.3 Brand Association

Brand association is a wide concept constitutes and emerges various perceptions about a brand. According to Foroudi et al. (2018) a powerful link exists between brand awareness and brand association. Since brand association consists of one's all thoughts and ideas about a brand, it would not be wrong to argue that brand association is based on brand knowledge and brand image (Foroudi et al., 2018).

The participants of this study also suggested the symbolic value of the collaboration exists between H&M and luxury fashion brands. One of the participants stated that H&M gained prestige and value by collaborating with luxury brands. The increased prestige aspect was also expressed by another participant of this study. Another participant suggested that H&M changes its target segment to middle and upper-middle-class by collaborating with luxury fashion brands. These statements show that such luxury fashion brand collaborations add value to the luxury fashion brand and increase its symbolic value among the consumers. The participant 28 stated that:

"Balmain would be snob and glamourous, Kenzo would be sporty and colourful, Moschino would be fun and cool and Giambattista Valli would be assertive with exaggeration."

### Participant 27 stated that

"Erdem would be elegant and noble, Moschino would be energic and partygirl and Kenzo would be dynamic and colorful."

## Participant 21 stated that

"Kenzo would be young and dynamic, Moschino would be childish but rebel, Balmain would be cool and mature, Erdem would be noble and Giambattista Valli would be glamorous and flamboyant." When these views of the participants regarding the luxury fashion brands are considered, it can be seen that the perception about these brands are formed as a result of the sensory inputs. Sensory inputs are provided to the consumers through the colors and lines of these brands. Thus, consumer create an identity related to the brand which defines its structural properties and its function. Most of the participants used similar words to define each of these brands. Balmain was mainly defined as snob and serious, Moschino as energic and fun, Erdem as elegant and noble, Giambattista Valli as glamorous and Kenzo as sport and colorful. Accordingly, it is possible to express that these brands create an image that is perceived similarly by the participants.

## 4.4 Brand Fondness

In general, brand fondness has three major components which are emotional association, functional association and attitudinal association (Foroudi et al., 2018). In today's world, the emotional association for brand fondness is driven by the social media platforms and social media influencers (Ge, and Gretzel, 2018). As these influencers use and promote these brands and the products, their followers who are the key consumer audience become more fond of the brand (Foroudi et al., 2018). Since the participants can easily shop from H&M, an accessible ready-made clothing brand, they are also sympathetic and interested in the luxury brand collaborations developed by this brand. In addition, the popularity of luxury designer collaborations on social media and the mediums consumed by Generation Z encourages consumers to follow these collections.

Some comments of the participants about brand fondness are given below.

#### Participant 18 commented that

"I should state that dealing with luxury brands is like a game for me. Their entertaining world which only for "exclusive" people excites me. Although I can't follow their every activity, most of the time I want to know the current developments. It gives me pleasure to enter that exclusive life as much as I can."

## Participant 24 stated that

"In my opinion, since luxury fashion brands are especially desired and preferred brands, those who want to have these limited and affordable products of these brands exhibit such behaviors. Plus, people develop a passion (fondness) for these products as these products are highly praised by some well-known people."

#### 4.5 Brand Image

Brand image is a key component of brand perception. A positive brand image will lead to a positive brand perception which will increase the purchasing intention and purchasing behavior (Foroudi et al., 2018). Brand image measurement might be challenging as there are multiple components linked to this factor. In this study, brand image is measured with the recommendation level. If a consumer recommends a product or a brand to another individual, the brand image can be considered as positive (Frank, Gianfranco, & Eva, 2019). When participants were asked which H&M collaboration they would recommend, there were mixed answers. One participant said Karl Lagerfeld as this was the first collaboration collection while others focused on different qualities such as the luxury image of the brand or the design style that is closer to their age. For example, participant 8 stated that:

"Kenzo and Erdem are younger and I think they capture our generation more. The others are more old-fashioned brands."

Participant 14 said that:

"I don't see the collaboration purely as clothes or products. I think they are all an object of desire. Therefore, having them must be important for me and for the people around me. These collections (Stella McCartney, Balmain, Erdem) are the collections everyone would want to have."

Also, the participants were asked about the impact of such collaborations on the image of the luxury brand and the ready-wear brand. The participants stated that such collaboration efforts worked for both of the brands. While the luxury brand became affordable and expanded to a larger audience, the ready-wear brand gained further popularity. Participant 8 stated that: "I think the collaboration is profitable for both parties. While H&M gains prestige, luxury brands get the chance to expand their sales volume with different customer audiences."

## On the other hand, participant 9 stated that:

"I think it is something bad for the luxury brand followers. Why can someone have a brand I paid a lot for a lot cheaper? I can say that it is positive for H&M but I can't say the same thing for luxury brands."

## Participant 11 stated that:

"I think both brands can get what they want with this collaboration. Both more customers and more sales. Therefore, everyone is winning with these collections. I don't think anyone is negatively influenced at the end of the day."

#### Participant 16 stated that:

"I think both parties win. Everyone achieves their final objective which is more sales as a result of this collaboration."

## 4.6 Product Country Image

Product country image is one of the most challenging aspects of brand perception. The measurement of this component requires a local brand and local consumption. In terms of Turkey, product country image does not play a significant role. In Turkey, consumers prefer foreign brands over the local counterparts and there is often huge demand for foreign products and brands. The product country image might be evaluated with the fact that H&M collaboration projects are sold-out and there is black market demand for these products. A sample comment of a participant about product country image is given below.

## Participant 12 stated that

"I know that H&M is a European brand. In my opinion, this is obvious in their designs. I see that it reflects the Scandinavian style, especially in the winter season. Scandinavian is deep and warm, because the designs carry the style of

the land where the brand was born. Deep, because the history of the brand is very rich. Hot because I know whatever I buy from H&M will keep me warm."



# **CHAPTER 5: DISCUSSION**

The fashion and apparel industry are changing every day, especially among young consumers. Therefore, it is better to understand what Generation Z thinks about fashion in general and fashion brands in special. This study investigated the views of the members of Generation Z towards the collaboration between H&M as streetwear and fast fashion brand as well as other luxury brands such as Giambattista Valli, Moschino, Kenzo, Erdem, and Balmain. For this purpose, a pilot study is conducted with 4 members of Generation Z. When investigating the views of the members of the generation Z, it is important to build on the existing views on brand perception. Brand perception is the key driver for individuals to make a purchasing decision for a product or a service. This purchasing decision is irrespective of luxury consumption and can be linked to any consumer products. The brand perception framework presented by Forouid et al. (2018) plays a key role in understanding the components of how the consumers purchase a product or make a purchasing decision. As expressed above in the methodology section, the perception elements regarding the brand equity influences the brand perception management. In this regard, understanding the elements of brand perception for generation Z can provide important insights for brands to manage their brand perception for generation Z can provide important insights for brands to manage their brand perception. The findings of this study indicated that the members of Generation Z are keen to purchase products and clothes from such collaborations. These individuals defined such collaboration attempts as a way to be accessible and more affordable. The competition in the fashion industry in today's world is high and both streetwear brands and luxury brands are forced to create new and fresh products to meet these demands (Bhardwaj, and Fairhurst, 2010). The demand for popular and trendy products for Generation Z is as high as the rest of the consumer population. However, purchasing luxury brands all the time might be challenging for the members of this generation. In this case, the collaborations between fast fashion brands and luxury brands offer an opportunity to the consumers to purchase luxury brands at more affordable prices. This affordable and accessible aspect is also emphasized by the participants of the pilot study. Therefore, further attempts by different brands to expand and spread such collaborations might benefit both the fast-fashion and luxury brands. Since the main objective of fast-fashion

practices is to deliver to customers in the shortest time possible as well as considering the cost factor, such collaborations can expand the brand reach for the fast-fashion as well as the luxury brand (Bruce, and Daly, 2006). Understanding the emotional and behavioral components of what triggers the purchasing decision among the consumers is important in various terms. For example, brands can alight their marketing campaigns or collaboration projects to meet the needs and expectations of the consumers. Further, the new products or services that will be launched in the future can be designed by considering the consumer perception. This enables the fashion brands and marketers to position the brand in a higher segment by devising their products as well as their promotional activities.

The results obtained from this study were similar to Arıkan, and Kılıç (2017) study even though the target audiences were different in both studies while the results showed that the individuals consume and purchase apparel and fashion products based on different factors such as quality awareness, brand awareness, innovation, and fashion awareness. The results were also in parallel with the study by Kim, and Ko (2012), who examined Korean consumers' perceptions. They indicated that emotional value, perceived quality, symbolic value, and brand association were among the main factors to choose luxury collaborations with H&M as well as other brands. The brand perception is linked with brand association, perceived quality, brand awareness, brand image, brand fondness and product country image by Forouid et al. (2018:465). In Turkey, H&M is perceived as a preferable brand among the generation Z as suggested by the answers provided in the findings section. The consumers have previous knowledge about the designs and styles of the luxury brand as they follow H&M from social media. This is related to the brand awareness aspect of the brand perception. As suggested by Forouid et al. (2018), as the consumers are more aware of the brand and the efforts of the brand, the consumers tend to purchase those products. The brand awareness is an important factor to lead to a high-quality brand perception. Thus, when this luxury brand collaborates with a ready-wear brand such as H&M, the consumers expect the same level of design and quality from this collaboration. The basis for our perceptions is highly connected with psychology. Therefore, different psychological theories should also be considered when these results are evaluated. A study by Bachmann et al. (2019) indicated that owner-based luxury value is related to brand loyalty, brand attachment and brand engagement. Accordingly, ownership of a

luxury product can play a significant role on the perception of the consumers. In terms of H&M and luxury brand collaborations, owning a product that is produced with limited numbers can significantly increase the value of that product as well as the brands.

Understanding the perception of generation Z can play a key role for the future of the luxury brands and ready-wear brands. Generation Z is rather different than the previous generations in terms of consumption habits and brand perceptions. For this generation, product country image which is reflected on the social media platforms play an important role. As suggested by the participants of this study, the participants check Instagram posts and other social media outlets to follow influencers who consume products of H&M and luxury brand collaboration. The Instagram posts shared by the Turkish influencers and other influencers help them in their decision-making process. Therefore, there is a high demand from the brands to work with influencers to promote the collections and new collaboration projects.

This is further supported by the fact that massification increases the demand as well as the product range in terms of items with higher accessibility (Vecchi, and Buckley 2016). The results obtained from this study also support this idea as more and more consumers want to buy these products because of their accessibility as well as to increase the demand for these products. Since price comparisons play a key role in the decision-making process of these individuals (Francis, and Hoefel, 2018), finding affordable luxurious products without too much effort might also be the key reason for Generation Z to follow and purchase products of such collaborations. Further, these brand segments can gain a larger market segment due to the massification and promotion of their products via social media and influencers. The participants of the pilot interview stated that they follow these brands from social media as well as influencers. Accordingly, it is important to consider social media and influencers as an integral part of Generation Z's decisions when it comes to purchasing fashion products. Although the participants of the pilot study do not follow any of the brands from Instagram or any other social media, they frequently check the Instagram accounts, official websites, and influencers. When the answers collected from the main study group are considered, Instagram and influencers continues to play a key role. The participants in the main study group suggested that they are following the luxury

brands on Instagram as well as the influencers and H&M. However, some of the participants from the main study group believed that Instagram and influencers aren't enough alone to attract attention to the collaboration projects. The participants believed that brands need to find new strategies to reach to larger audience who are not active on social media and who do not follow the influencers. Therefore, brands can devise a different strategy to reach the members of this generation. Still, the findings show that these new strategies should be web-oriented as almost none of the participants are following these brands from printed media.

When all of these factors are considered, it is important to understand how the members of generation Z choose and buy certain products. Also, it is important to discover how the perception of generation Z are shaped when it comes to make the purchasing decisions. A study that focuses on the consumption habits of generation Z can provide important insights both to fast fashion brands and luxury brands in terms of brand equity, brand perception and brand positioning. The members of the generation Z are often influenced from the views of other individuals and influencers they have seen on social media. Especially Instagram influencers play a key role in their purchasing decisions. On the other hand, there are various other factors that might influence their decision as the new form of marketing is shifting towards the digital environment where everyone is more visible. The increasing visibility across the peers might also drive the need to purchase the latest products that are popular on the social media. Furthermore, brand image and brand awareness might also be some of the important factors in the decision-making processes of the generation Z consumers. Therefore, the main research idea of this study is derived from these questions to investigate the main drivers for this generation to purchase a product presented as a result of fast fashion brand and luxury brand collaboration.

In short, Generation Z is following the collaborations between H&M and luxury brands and purchase some of the products offered in these collections. The brands need to address the daily habits of this generation to expand their reach. Also, brands need to consider the brand perception of this generation as most of them believe that ready-wear and luxury brand collaborations are a good way to buy the products they cannot buy otherwise. However, another key topic to be considered here is suggested by Forouid et al. (2018) expressing that fashion industry needs to be more interactive for

brand loyalty and brand purchasing intention. As suggested by the findings of this study, the brand purchasing intention is mainly driven by the Instagram and other social media influencers. The members of the generation Z are highly influenced from social media posts that include the products from H&M and luxury brand collaboration. Most of the participants stated that they do not follow the social media channels of luxury brands or H&M on a regular basis. This is an important indication for H&M and luxury brands in terms of reaching their target audience. At this point, it is necessary for brands to find new ways to attract consumers on their social media platforms for promotional purposes. Also, brands need to re-address the gender and create almost gender-free collections to target this new audience (Kenney, 2020). Working and collaborating with social media influencers might be the easiest method to do that. Still, the interaction between the brand and consumers should be increased for driving brand purchasing intentions.

# **CHAPTER 6: CONCLUSION**

This study focuses on Generation Z and collaborations between a fast fashion brand and a luxury brand. The perceptions of this generation play a key role for the entire fashion sector, especially for the clothing brands and designers. In general, the brand perception of any consumers is based on six key elements such as brand association, perceived quality, brand awareness, brand image, brand fondness and product country image as suggested by Forouid et al. (2018). Understanding the perception of this generation, as well as their consumption habits, play a key role for the brands to position themselves in the highly competitive market. Further, understanding the key elements for brand perception can significantly help the brands to position their products and brands better in the highly competitive market. The results in the study showed that the members of the Generation Z prefer such collaborations due to accessibility and affordability. The accessibility factor is highly related with the brand awareness factor of brand perception. The participants of this study stated that they know H&M and some of the luxury brands which contribute to positive perception regarding the collaboration projects. Further, the consumers suggest that the design of the luxury brands and the scarcity of the products play a key role to drive their purchasing decision. In addition to that, social media platforms and especially Instagram are the most important places that these consumers get to know the luxury brands, ready-wear brands such as H&M and collaboration between these luxury brands and ready-wear brands. This is also related to brand awareness as the participants are inform about the brand via social media and influencers. However, the brand awareness here is due to third parties such as the social media influencers rather than the official social media channels of H&M or the collaborated luxury brand. The consumers are following influencers especially Instagram influencers to make their purchasing decisions. The products presented by the social media influencers contribute to brand image and turn these products into desirable commodities. All of the participants in this study stated that they follow influencers and they know about luxury brands and brand collaborations via these influencers. This further suggest that the fashion industry needs to be more interactive in terms of brand purchasing intention. Expanding the scope of influencer marketing or influencers collaboration projects can significantly benefit to brands in terms of brand perception and brand loyalty. The participants were interested in H&M and luxury brand collaborations and purchased the products in these collaborations due to their luxury and affordability perception. In this sense, the collaboration project is linked with luxury consumption which is related to brand association. The perception of luxury is one of the main drivers for purchasing a product for individuals who have participated in this study. In addition to that, owning a product that an influencer posts on social media is also an important factor for the generation Z members. When these factors are considered, it can be seen that the brand perception of generation Z generation Z is highly driven by the decisions of other individuals called the influencers. Accordingly, the brands need to find new ways to address generation Z to drive their purchasing decision by considering social media and influencers as the key marketing outlets.

When the participants' answers are compared with the brand's statement on the official website and in the annual reports, it is clear that these views are parallel with what the brand is trying to achieve (H&M, 2020b). The H&M brand positioned itself as a sustainable, environmentally friendly, affordable, fashionable, and dynamic brand (H&M, 2020b). The participants of this study affirm that such a brand image is reflected on the consumer side. This study that investigates the brand perception of generation Z based on collaboration projects between H&M and luxury brands has certain limitations. This study is only limited to a pilot group in Turkey. The luxury product consumption in Turkey might be comparatively lower than other countries in Europe or the US. Therefore, future studies need to address the luxury product consumption in Turkey and other countries and provide an insight about the perception of generation Z accordingly. The study was first applied as a pilot study to better test the hypothesis created. Also, the pilot application enabled further improving the questions in the survey to collect clearer answer. On the next stage, the survey is applied to a 33-individual group selected with criterion sampling. Thus, the data collected from this participant group revealed more accurate representation of the perceptions of the Generation Z. However, it is possible to expand the number of participants. Thus, more comprehensive research on Generation Z in other countries can provide better insights into their perception along with how well these collaborations work. Also, a comparative study between the Turkish consumer group and consumer groups of the other countries can be an important benchmark in this field. Nevertheless, it is clear that the members of Generation Z are more tech-savvies

than their predecessors and engage with brands in the digital environment rather than the traditional environment. Also, the consumption habits are more focused on relaxed, comfortable, and affordable fashion which is reflected with collaborations rather than high-priced luxury brands. Thus, this generation has the potential to revolutionize the entire fashion and apparel industry with their brand perceptions, brand loyalties, and consumption habits. Approaching this topic from different perspectives can further highlight the potential areas for both fast fashion brands and luxury brands.



## REFERENCES

Achille, A., Marchessou, S. and Remy, N. (2018). 'Luxury In The Age Of Digital Darwinism', *McKinsey & Company*, 1 February [Online] Available at: https://www.mckinsey.com/industries/retail/our-insights/luxury-in-the-age-of-digital-darwinism (Accessed: 3 December 2021).

Ahn, S., Kim, H. and Forney, J.A. (2009) *Fashion collaboration or collision? Examining the match-up effect in co-marketing alliances*, Journal of Fashion Marketing and Management: An International Journal, vol. 14(1), pp. 6-20.

Alexandra, Z. and Cerchia, A.E. (2018) *The Influence of Brand Awareness and Other Dimensions of Brand Equity in Consumer's Behaviour: The Affordable Luxury" Strategy*, "Ovidius" University Annals, Economic Sciences Series, vol. 18, no. 1, pp. 422-427.

Amed, I., Balchandani, A., Beltrami, M., Berg, A., Hendrich, S. and Rölkens, F. (2019) *The Influence Of 'Woke' Consumers On Fashion*, McKinsey & Company, 12 February [Online] Available at: https://www.mckinsey.com/industries/retail/our-insights/the-influence-of-woke-consumers-on-fashion (Accessed: 11 December 2021).

Arıkan K.H. ve Kılıç, S. (2017) Y kuşağı tüketicilerinin alışveriş stilleri: Cinsiyete göre bir araştırma, Kırklareli Üniversitesi İktisadi ve İdari Bilimler Fakültesi Dergisi, vol. 6, no. 4, pp. 61-72.

Atwal, G. en Williams, A. (2017) "Luxury Brand Marketing -- The Experience Is Everything!", in Kapferer, J.-N. et al. (reds) *Advances in Luxury Brand Management*. Cham: Springer International Publishing, pp. 43–57. doi: 10.1007/978-3-319-51127-6\_3.

Aviv, Y. and Pazgal, A. (2008) *Optimal pricing of seasonal products in the presence of forward-looking consumers,* Manufacturing & Service Operations Management, vol. 10, no. 3, pp. 339-359.

Barnard, M. (2002) Fashion As Communication, 2nd Edn, Routledge, London.

Bhardwaj, V. and Fairhurst, A. (2010) *Fast fashion: response to changes in the fashion industry*, The international review of retail, distribution and consumer research, vol. 20, no. 1, pp. 165-173.

Bellezza, S., Paharia, N., and Keinan, A. (2017). *Conspicuous consumption of time: When busyness and lack of leisure time become a status symbol,* Journal of Consumer Research, vol. 44, no. 1, pp. 118-138.

Bin, S., Choi T.M. and Chow P.S. (2017) Brand loyalties in designer luxury and fast fashion co-branding alliances, *Journal of Business Research*, vol. 81, pp. 173-180.

Bobb B. (2019) From LV x Supreme to Beychella: 14 Collaborations That Actually Mattered in the 2010s. Available at: https://www.vogue.com/article/14-most-important-fashion-collaborations-decade. (Accessed: 3 November 2021)

Bonilla M., Arriaga, J., and Andreu, D. (2019) The interaction of Instagram followers in the fast fashion sector: The case of Hennes and Mauritz (H&M), Journal of Global Fashion Marketing, vol. 10, no. 4, pp. 342-357.

Boyce, C. and Neale, P. (2006). Conducting In-Depth Interview - A Guide for Designing and Conducting In-Depth Interviews for Evaluation Input. Pathfinder.

Brand, C. P. (2011). Italy and the English Romantics: the Italianate fashion in early nineteenth-century England. London: Cambridge University Press.

Bruce, M. and Daly, L. (2006) *Buyer behaviour for fast fashion*, Journal of Fashion Marketing and Management, vol. 10, no. 3, pp. 329-344.

Butler, J.R. (2008) *Neuromarketing and the perception of knowledge*, Journal of Consumer Behaviour, vol. 7, no. 4-5, pp. 415-419.

Cachon and Swinney. (2011) The value of fast fashion: quick response, enhanced design, and strategic consumer behavior, Management Science, vol. 57, no. 4, pp. 778-795.

CCI Team. (2020) *Why China's young consumers love brand collaborations*, [Online]. Available at: https://jingdaily.com/china-genz-millenial-brand-collaborations-adidas-heytea/ (Accessed 29 May 2021).

Chang, Y.T., Cheng, W.H., Wu, B. and Hua, K.L. (2017) "Fashion World Map: Understanding Cities Through Streetwear Fashion", in Proceedings of the 25th ACM International Conference on Multimedia. New York, NY, USA: Association for Computing Machinery (MM '17), pp. 91–99. doi: 10.1145/3123266.3123268. Chen-Yu, J., Cho, S., and Kincade, D. (2016). *Brand perception and brand repurchase intent in online apparel shopping: An examination of brand experience, image congruence, brand affect, and brand trust.* Journal of Global Fashion Marketing, vol. 7, no. 1, pp. 30-44.

Choi, S.M. (2017) *Pricing and branding for remanufactured fashion products*, Journal of Cleaner Production, vol. 165, pp. 1385-1394.

Clifton, R. (2009) Brands & Branding. London: Profile Books Ltd.

Cole, D. J. (2011). *Heritage and Innovation: Charles Frederick Worth, John Redfern, and the Dawn of Modern Fashion*. Institut Français de la Mode (IFM) 36 quai d'Austerlitz 75013 Paris France.

Collins, H. (2018) *How to start your own streetwear brand: 7 tips from no stress.* FASHION, 30 May [Online] Available at: https://id.vice.com/en\_uk/article/9k8q9d/how-to-create-a-streetwear-brand-by-no-stress. Accessed: 2 November 2021).

Dach, L. and Allmendinger, K. (2014) Sustainability in corporate communications and its influence on consumer awareness and perceptions: A study of H&M and Primark, Procedia - Social and Behavioral Sciences, vol. 130, pp. 409-418.

Dimock, M. (2019) *Defining generations: Where Millennials end and Generation Z begins*, Pew Research Center, vol. 17, no. 1, pp. 1-7.

Durmaz, Y. and Dağ, K. (2018) Marka özgünlüğünün marka sadakati üzerindeki etkileri: cep telefonu markaları üzerine bir araştırma, Akademik Araştırmalar ve Çalışmalar Dergisi (AKAD), vol. 10, no. 19, pp. 489-501.

Edleman, D. (2010) Branding in the digital age: you're spending your money in all the wrong places, Harvard Business Review, vol. 88, no. 12, pp. 62-69.

Frank B., Gianfranco W., and Eva K. H. (2019) *Consumer perceptions of luxury brands: An owner-based perspective*. European Management Journal, vol. 37, no. 3, pp. 287-298.

Fiske, N. and Silverstein, M.J. (2003) *Luxury for The Masses*, Harvard Business Review, vol. 81, no. 4, pp. 48-59.

Fiske, S.T. and Taylor, S.E. (1991) *Social Cognition*, 2nd edn, New York: McGraw-Hill.

Fontana, R., Girod, J.G.S., and Králik, M. (2019) *How luxury brands can beat counterfeiters*, Harvard Business Review [Online]. Available at https://hbr.org/2019/05/how-luxury-brands-can-beat-counterfeiters (Accessed 15 May 2021).

Foroudi, P., Jin, Z., Gupta, S., Foroudi, M. M., AND Kitchen, P. J. (2018) *Perceptional* components of brand equity: Configuring the symmetrical and asymmetrical paths to brand loyalty and brand purchase intention, Journal of Business Research, vol. 89, pp. 462–474.

Francis, T. and Hoefel, F. (2018) '*True Gen': Generation Z and its implications for companies*. Available at https://www.mckinsey.com/industries/consumer-packaged-goods/our-insights/true-gen-generation-z-and-its-implications-for-companies (Accessed 5 May 2021).

Ge, J., and Gretzel, U. (2018) *Emoji rhetoric: a social media influencer perspective*, Journal of Marketing Management, vol. 34, no. 15–16, pp. 1272–1295. https://doi.org/10.1080/0267257x.2018.1483960.

Ginman, C, Lundell, C. and Turek, C. (2010) Luxury for the Masses: A Study of the H&M Luxury Collaborations with Focus on the Images of the Luxury Designer Brands. Available at:

https://www.divaportal.org/smash/record.jsf?pid=diva2%3A318266&dswid=7142. (Accessed 22 May 2021).

Godart and Seong. (2014) *Is sustainable luxury fashion possible?* Sustainable Luxury: Managing Social and Environmental Performance in Iconic Brands, pp.12-27.

Gordon, C. (2017) *Why Collaboration Dominates Fashion in 2017* [Online]. Available at: https://www.ssense.com/en-us/editorial/fashion/why-collaboration-dominates-fashion-in-2017. (Accessed 6 July 2021).

H&M. (2020a). *All About Giambattista Valli x H&M* [Online]. Available at: https://www2.hm.com/en\_us/life/culture/inside-h-m/giambattista-valli-hm-designer-collaboration-collection-2019.html. (Accessed: 8 April 2020).

H&M. (2020b). *H&M Group Annual Report 2020*. [Online]. Available at: https://hmgroup.com/wp-content/uploads/2021/04/HM-Annual-Report-2020.pdfH&M. (Accessed: 8 April 2020).

Hanssen, J. (2018). 6 words that define the new 'cool' for Gen Z [Online]. Available at: https://www.howcoolbrandsstayhot.com/2018/07/24/6-words-that-define-the-new-cool-for-gen-z/. (Accessed: 29 May 2021).

Hermantha, Y. (2019) 'Celebrity Endorsement of Luxury Brands in Purchasing Pattern Among Generation Z Customers', *SSRN*, 30 December [Online]. Available at: https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract\_id=3500626. (Accessed: 18 July 2020).

Holt D.B. (2004) *How Brands Become Icons: The Principles of Cultural Branding*. Boston: Harvard Business School Publishing Corporation.

Husic, M. and Cicic, M. (2009). *Luxury consumption factors*. Journal of Fashion Marketing and Management: an international journal, vol. 13, no. 2.

IBM Institute for Business Value. (2017) *Gen Z brand relationship*, New York: IBM Institute.

Jang, E.Y. (2006). An analysis on cases of fashion collaboration strategy, Journal of Fashion Business, vol. 10, no. 6, pp.110-121.

Jiang, S. (2020) A comparative analysis of chinese and british consumers' consumption behaviours and attitudes toward fast-fashion brand as Zara and H&M, Asian Journal of Social Science Studies, vol. 5, no. 2, pp. 17-39.

Jones, A.R. and Stallybrass, P. (2000) *Renaissance clothing and the materials of memory*, Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Jones, E.E. and Davis, K.E. (1965) From Acts To Dispositions: The Attribution Process In Social Psychology, in Berkowitz L (ed.), Advances in experimental social psychology, New York: Academic Press, pp. 219-266.

Jones, R. (2013) *Communication In The Real World: An Introduction To Communication Studies*, Minneapolis: University of Minnesota Libraries Publishing.

Joy, A, Sherry, J.F., Venkatesh, A., Wang, J., and Chan, R. (2012) *Fast fashion, sustainability, and the ethical appeal of luxury brands*, Fashion Theory, vol. 16, no. 3, pp. 273-295.

Juodzbalis and Radzevicius. (2015) 'The Profile of Generation Z Customers Towards Luxury Fashion: Case Study of Asian Countries', *12th International Prof. V. Gronskas Scientific Conference*, pp. 95-101.

Kapferer, J.-N. and Michaut, A. (2014) *Luxury counterfeit purchasing: The collateral effect of luxury brands' trading down policy*, Journal of Brand Strategy, vol. 3, no. 1, pp. 59-70.

Keller K.L. (2017) Managing the Growth Tradeoff: Challenges and Opportunities in Luxury Branding. In: Kapferer JN., Kernstock J., Brexendorf T., Powell S. (eds) *Advances in Luxury Brand Management*. Journal of Brand Management: Advanced Collections. Palgrave Macmillan, Cham. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-51127-6 9.

Kenney, L. (2020) *Companies can't ignore shifting gender norms* [Online]. Available at: https://hbr.org/2020/04/companies-cant-ignore-shifting-gender-norms (Accessed: 27 July 2021).

Kim, E.Y. and Ko, S.H. (2012) Consumer responses toward fashion collaboration brands -effects of collaboration type and brand sensitivity, Journal of the Korean Society of Clothing and Textiles, vol. 36, no. 10, pp. 1058-1073.

Langer, D. (2021) *Luxury brands just don't understand Gen Z* [Online]. Available at: https://www.scmp.com/magazines/style/luxury/article/3121310/luxury-brands-just-dont-understand-gen-z-and-its-killing (Accessed: 5 May 2021).

Loureiro, S.M., Serra, J. and Guerreiro, J. (2019) *How fashion brands engage on social media: A netnography approach*, Journal of Promotion Management, vol. 25, no. 3, pp. 367-378.

de Macedo, M.L.D. (2015) *The Evolution of Streetwear The newfound reality of Streetwear and its luxury-like management*, Doctorate Thesis. Universidade Católica, Faculdade de Economia e Gestão.

Mack, S. (2019) *Role of perception in consumer behavior* [Online]. Available at: https://smallbusiness.chron.com/role-perception-consumer-behavior-67136.html. (Accessed: 10 May 2021).

Maguire. (2019) *Brand collaborations: What worked in 2019* [Online]. Available at: https://www.voguebusiness.com/companies/collaborations-2019-virgil-abloh-ikea-rick-owens-birkenstock-supreme-stone-island-sacai-nike. (Accessed: 8 April 2020).

Malmqvist J, Hellberg K, Möllås G, Rose R, Shevlin M. (2019) 'Conducting the Pilot Study: A Neglected Part of the Research Process? Methodological Findings Supporting the Importance of Piloting in Qualitative Research Studies', *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*. doi: 10.1177/1609406919878341.

Maxwell, J. A. (2008). Designing a Qualitative Study. In: *The SAGE Handbook of Applied Social Research Methods*, 2nd ed. Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE Publications, Inc. pp. 214-253. Available at: <a href="https://dx.doi.org/10.4135/9781483348858">https://dx.doi.org/10.4135/9781483348858</a> & gt; [Accessed: 1 Jan 2022].

McNeil, P. (2018). *Pretty Gentlemen: Macaroni men and the eighteenth-century fashion world*. New Haven: Yale University Press.

Miller, R. (2001) 21st Century Transitions: Opportunities, Risks and Strategies for Governments and Schools, OECD Report, pp. 147-155.

Mrad, M, Farah, M.F., and Haddad, S. (2018) *From Karl Lagerfeld to Erdem: a series of collaborations between designer luxury brands and fast-fashion brands*, Journal of Brand Management, vol. 26, pp. 567-582.

Muret, D. (2019) *Luxury industry comes to terms with Gen Z's appetite for collaborations, resale*, [Online]. Available at: https://ww.fashionnetwork.com/news/Luxury-industry-comes-to-terms-with-gen-z-s-appetite-for-collaborations-resale,1090997.html (Accessed: 28 May 2021).

Nike. (2021) *Nike by You*, [Online]. Available at: https://www.nike.com/gb/nike-by-you. (Accessed: 5 June 2021).

Nueno, J. L. and Quelch, J. A. (1998). *The mass marketing of luxury*. Business horizons, vol. 41, no. 6, 61-61.

Okobnkwo, U. (2016) *Luxury Fashion Branding: Trends and Tactics, Techniques.* Hampshire: Palgrave Macmillan Publishing. Palinkas, L. A., Horwitz, S. M., Green, C. A., Wisdom, J. P., Duan, N. and Hoagwood,
K. (2015). *Purposeful sampling for qualitative data collection and analysis in mixed method implementation research*, Administration and Policy in Mental Health and
Mental Health Services Research, vol. 42, no. 5, pp. 533–544.

Pantano, E. (2011) *Cultural factors affecting consumer behaviour: a new perception model*, EuroMed Journal of Business, vol. 6, no. 1, pp. 117-136.

Perez, M.E., Castaño, R., and Quintanilla, C. (2010) *Constructing identity through the consumption of counterfeit luxury goods*, Qual. Mark. Res., vol. 13, no. 3, pp. 219-235.

Petersen, L. H. (2009). 'Clothes make the man': Dressing the Roman freedman body.
Bodies and Boundaries in Graeco-Roman Antiquity, Berlin, New York: De Gruyter, 2010, pp. 181-214. https://doi.org/10.1515/9783110212532.181

Prevot, A. (2009) *The effects of guerilla marketing on brand equity*, The Consortium Journal of Hospitality and Tourism, vol. 13, no. 2.

Reis, Pereira, Azevedo, Jeronimo and Miguel. (2019) *Genderless clothing in fashion*. *Textiles, Identity and Innovation: Design the Future* (pp. 255-260). 1st Edition. Boca Raton: CRC Press.

Rielle, G. (2011) *The object of fashion: methodological approaches to the history of fashion*, Journal of Aesthetics & Culture, vol. 3, no. 1, pp. 1-9.

Rowley, J. (2004) Online Branding, Online Information Review, vol. 28, no. 2.

Ryding, D, Vignali, G., Caratù, M., Wang, Y.Y. and Carey, R. (2016) *21st century luxury fashion retailers' marketing strategies for customer satisfaction: UK perspective*, International Journal of Business and Globalisation, vol. 16, no. 1, pp. 79-103.

Savignac B.M., Parmentier, M.A., and Marcoux, J.S. (2012) *Consumer-bloggers* mobilized in marketing campaigns: A study of opinion leaders' authenticity management in a streetwear community, Advances in Consumer Research, vol. 40, pp. 81-84.

Schofield, K. and Schmidt, R. Ä. (2005). *Fashion and clothing: the construction and communication of gay identities*. International Journal of Retail & Distribution Management, vol. 33, no. 4, pp. 310-323.

Shen, B., Jung, J., Chow, P.S., and Wong, S. (2014) *Co-branding in Fast Fashion: The Impact of Consumers' Need for Uniqueness on Purchase Perception*, Fashion Branding and Consumer Behaviors, pp. 101-112.

Sherman, L. (2019) 'High-Low Collaborations Democratised Fashion. But What Did They Do For the Designers?', *The Business of Fashion* [Online]. Available at: https://www.businessoffashion.com/articles/news-analysis/high-low-collaborationsdemocratised-fashion-but-what-did-they-do-for-the-designers. (Accessed: 10 May 2021).

Shuruova, N. (2018) Overall Insight into the Streetwear Fashion Business in the Past Decade, Master's Thesis. Saimaa University of Applied Sciences Faculty of Business Administration, Lappeenranta.

Solomon, M. and Rabolt, N. (2009) *Consumer Behavior: In Fashion*, 2nd edition. London: Pearson Publishing.

Solomon, M.R. and Stuart, E.W. (2005) *Marketing*, 3rd edition. London: Pearson Publishing.

Statista. (2019) *Length of time that streetwear apparel stay in style*. 5 May [Online] Available at: https://www.statista.com/statistics/1092421/streetwear-lifespanworldwide/. (Accessed: 10 December 2021).

Statista. (2020) U.S. Apparel Market-Statistics & Facts. 12 January [Online] Available at: https://www.statista.com/topics/965/apparel-market-in-the-

us/#:~:text=Sales%20from%20the%20men's%20clothing,(COVID%2D19)%20pand emic. (Accessed: 12 December 2021).

Steele, V. (2001) *The Corset: A Cultural History*. 2nd edition. New Haven: Yale University Press.

Stein, S. (2019) How Could Changing Consumer Trends Affect Fast-Fashion LeadersH&MAndZara?[Online].Availableat:https://www.forbes.com/sites/sanfordstein/2019/02/10/how-could-changing-<br/>consumer-trends-affect-fast-fashion-leaders-hm-and-zara/#6152cc296f48. (Accessed:<br/>22 November 2021).22 November 2021).

The Economist. (2015) Luxury Goods: Conterfeit.com. *The Economist* [Online]. Available at: https://www.economist.com/news/business/216609111-makers-expensive-bags-clothesand- watches-are-fighting-fakery-courts-battle. (Accessed: 6 December 2021).

Truong, Y, McColl, R.S. and Kitchen, PJ. (2009) *New luxury brand positioning and the emergence of masstige brands*, Journal of Brand Management, vol. 16, no. 5, pp. 375–382.

Tungate, M. (2004) *Fashion brands: branding style from Armani to Zara.* 2nd edition. London: Kogan Page.

Turner, A. (2015). *Generation Z: Technology and social interest*. The journal of individual Psychology, vol. 71, no. 2, pp. 103-113.

Unity Marketing. (2006) *Unity marketing's luxury report 2006* [Online]. Available at: http://www.unitymarketingonline.com/reports2/luxury/pdf/LuxRep2006Intro.pdf. (Accessed: 23 July 2021).

Vecchie and Buckley. (2016) Handbook of Research on Global Fashion Management and Merchandising. Hersher PA: IGI Global.

Wang, T. (2015) *The Value of Luxury Brand Names in the Fashion Industry*, CMC Senior Theses. Claremont McKenna College.

Wang, Y., and Griskevicius, V. (2014). *Conspicuous consumption, relationships, and rivals: Women's luxury products as signals to other women,* Journal of consumer research, vol. 40, no. 5, pp. 834-854.

Whitehead, A. L., Julious, S. A., Cooper, C. L., and Campbell, M. J. (2016). *Estimating the sample size for a pilot randomised trial to minimise the overall trial sample size for the external pilot and main trial for a continuous outcome variable*, Statistical methods in medical research, vol. 25, no. 3, pp. 1057–1073. https://doi.org/10.1177/0962280215588241.

Wright, R. (2006) Consumer Behaviour. London: Thomson Learning.

Wrobleski, M.T. (2019). Important Factors of Competition in the Clothing Market, Chron [Online]. Available at: https://smallbusiness.chron.com/important-factorscompetition-clothing-market-81643.html. (Accessed: 10 March 2019).

# **APPENDICES**

## Appendix A. Survey Questions

# Survey Questions: These questions are prepared to identify the in-depth interview participants.

- 1. How close do you follow fashion brands? (Multiple choice)
  - Closely
  - I Follow
  - Average
  - I Don't Follow
  - Never
- 2. Which fast fashion brands do you follow closely?
- 3. Do you know about the fashion brand collaboration projects?
  - Yes
  - No
- 4. If yes, can you give examples?
- 5. Do you want attend our Zoom interviews?
  - Yes
  - No
- 6. Name and surname?
- 7. Date of birth?
- 8. Which city in Turkey are you living?
- 9. What is your email address?
- 10. Can you please any social media accounts we can contact you?

#### Appendix B. In-depth Interview Questions

# In-Depth Interview Questions: The survey questions will be asked to 30 participants selected after the pilot study.

- **1.** What is your age?
- 2. What is your education level?
- **3.** Which city do you live in?
- 4. Which economic class are you in?
- 5. Do you regularly follow updates about fashion brands?
- 6. Do you follow these updates on digital media or traditional media?
- 7. Can you list affordable fast fashion brands? What are the top 3 brands that come into your mind?
- **8.** Which fast fashion brands do you remember that collaborate with luxury fashion brands?
- 9. How well do you know H&M?
- 10. What do you think about this brand?
- 11. What comes into your mind when we say H&M?
- 12. Can you define H&M with 3 adjectives?
- 13. Why?
- 14. Have you ever shopped or thought of shopping from H&M?
- 15. Do you know H&M's annual collaboration with luxury fashion brands?
- 16. In recent years, H&M is preparing collections with Balmain, Kenzo, Erdem, Moschino ve Giambattista Valli. Which of these brands do you know?
- 17. What personal traits would these brands have?
- 18. Why?
- **19.** Why do you follow the luxury brand collaboration projects you have mentioned?
- **20.** How and where do you know about H&M's collaboration projects with these luxury brands?

- **21.** What do you think about the communication via these collaboration projects?
- **22.** Do you follow any of these brands on social media or do you see any of the contents of these brands in digital environment?
- **23.** How do you think such collaboration projects impact the bran images? What do you think about that?
- 24. H&M did its first luxury brand collaboration in 2004 with Karl Lagerfeld. Over the years, the collections continued with brands such as Stella McCartney, Comme des Garcons, Versace and Isabel Marant. In the last 5 years, the brand collaborated with Balmain, Kenzo, Erdem, Moschino and Giambattista Valli. Which of these collaboration projects will you recommend to the people around you?
- 25. Why?
- **26.** Do you think such collaboration projects represent H&M or the luxury brand? What do you think about the representation of these brands?
- **27.** The products of these collaboration projects are sold out in a few hours and we can see these products on the black market with high prices in a few hours. People also spend hours in the queue in front of the stores. Why do you think these collections are this popular?
- **28.** Did you continue to follow these brands when collaboration projects ended or the popularity decreased? If not please explain why?
- **29.** Do you wish to add anything?